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CAPITALTRUST

We are a finance and investment management company that specializes in credit-sensitive
structured financial products. Qur mission is to consistently produce superior returns for our
shareholders and investors. To date, our investment activities have focused primarily on the
U.S. commercial real estate subordinate debt markets. We execute our business both as a
balance sheet investor and as an investment manager through our CT Mezzanine Partners
family of funds. Capital Trust, Inc. is a real estate investment trust traded on the New York

Stock Exchange under the symbol “CT.” The company is headquartered in New York City.
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To Our Shareholders,

Judged by any financial metric, 2004 was a banner year for Capital Trust. Executing on the strategic plan
that we unveiled in early 2003, we exceeded our targets across the board:

e Total originations topped $1.1 billion, split almost equally between new investments for our balance

sheet and for CT Mezzanine Partners 11
¢ Net of repayments, total balance sheet assets increased by 119% to $878 million.

® Book equity more than tripled, from $96 million to $316 million, while book value per share increased
44% o $20.79.

¢ Net income increased by 60% year-over-year and, on a much larger equity base, diluted earnings per
share totaled $2.14.

® Most important, we increased our dividend from 45¢ to 50¢ per share for the fourth quarter, reflecting

our continued confidence in CT’s business.

That confidence stems, in part, from several important initiatives that we completed in 2004:

¢ In July, we issued our first CDQ. This $324 million transaction broke new ground in the emerging real
estate CDO sector: the first to be collateralized by B Notes and Mezzanine Loans and the first to
incorporate a 4-year reinvestment period. A powerful new tool for those companies that can access this
market, CDO financing allows us to dramatically reduce our cost of capital and match fund our assets

with non recourse, non mark-to-market debt.

During the summer, we returned to the equity capital markets to fund our growth. In a series of linked
transactions, we directly placed 2.0 million common shares with affiliates of W. R. Berkley Corporation,
a respected investor whom we welcome as a strategic partner. Separately, in July-we completed an
underwritten public offering of 4.0 million common shares, comprised of 1.9 million primary shares and
2.1 million secondary shares sold by holders of our convertible subordinated debentures (the balance
was subsequently converted into common in September). Together, these transactions strengthened our

balance sheet and expanded the float and liquidity of our stock.

Also during the summer, we received approvals from all 3 major rating agencies to act as a Special
Servicer for securitized commercial mortgage loans. Coupled with enhancements to our asset
management infrastructure and information systems, this initiative was designed to support our push
into smallerbalance Mezzanine Loans and B Notes, which fueled much of our asset growth in 2004. In
the furure, the Special Servicer ratings will allow us to directly control the resolution of any problem

assets as we invest in larger pools of smaller-balance loans.
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Two years ago, we announced a new strategic plan for Capiral Trust. The objective of that plan was to creare
an integrated finance and investment management company whose primary mission was to produce a steady,
growing stream of dividend income to its shareholders. In 2003, we elected REIT status, re-started our
balance sheet investment activity, and successfully capitalized our third private equity fund, CT Mezzanine
Partners {11 In 2004, we broadened our investment strategies, significantly increased our scale and equity
capital base, and launched our CDO initiative.

In 2005, we will build on this positive momentum by advancing on several fronts:

e First, we will leverage our platform, by expanding into complementary investment products through
new fund offerings and additional balance sheet capacity. We will focus on products that utilize our

established network of relationships and our core skills in credit underwriting and financial structuring.

¢ Second, we will leverage our balance sheet, using CDO and other technologies to drive down our cost
of capital and improve our asset/liability match. We want to establish Capital Trust as the premier brand

in the real estate CDO market, just as we have in the mezzanine lending arena.

e And third, we will enhance our presence in the public equity markets by sequentially increasing the
float and liquidity of our stock. We made great progress on this goal with our public offering last summer,
but know that we have more work to do.

As we write this letter, 2005 is already off to a great start: our second CDO has just closed and we have
announced another dividend increase, to 55¢ per share for the first quarter. We expect a year characterized
by intense competition for good investments and continued pressure on spreads and credit quality.
Notwithstanding a difficult operating environment, Capital Trust is in solid shape and well positioned to
meet the challenge.

We believe deeply in this company, its people and its future. Thank you for your continued confidence
and support.

Samuel Zell John R. Klopp
Chairman of the Board of Directors ‘ Chief Executive Officer
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data, which was derived from our historical consolidated financial
statements included in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years then ended.

Certain reclassifications have been made to all periods presented to reflect the application of Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 46R on January 1, 2004, following the adoption of which we no longer consolidated CT Convertible Trust I, the
entity which had purchased our junior subordinated debentures and issued convertible trust common and preferred securities.

We began to conduct our operations to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes for the
2003 fiscal year, and elected REIT status when we filed our 2003 federal tax return on September 15, 2004. This election resulted
in a material reduction of our tax liability for 2004 and 2003. As a result, our income tax expense and net income after tax for
2004 and 2003 will not be comparabie to our income tax expense and net income after tax for periods prior to 2003.

You should read the following information together with the information contained under the caption “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto

included below.

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands, except for per share daia)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:
Interest and investment income $ 46,639 $ 38,577 $ 47,655 $ 68,200 $ 88,875
Income/{loss) from equity investments in affiliated Funds 2,407 1,526 (2,534) 2,991 1,530
Advisory, special servicing and investment banking fees 10 — 2,207 277 3,920
Gain on sale of investments 300 — — — —
Management and advisory fees from Funds 7,853 8,020 10,123 7,664 373

Tortal revenues 57,209 48,123 57,451 79,132 94,698
Operating Expenses:
Interest expense 20,141 19,575 34,184 42,856 52,418
General and administrative expenses 15,229 13,320 13,996 15,382 15,439
Depreciation and amortization 1,100 1,057 992 909 902
Net unrealized (gain)/loss on derivative securities and

corresponding hedged risk on CMBS — — (21,134) 542 —
Net realized {gain)/loss on sale of fixed assets, investments

and settlement of derivative securities — _— 28,715 —_— 64
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for

other-than-temporary impairment 5,886 — — — —
Provision for/(recapture of) allowance for possible credit losses (6,672) — (4,713) 748 5,478

Total operating expenses 35,684 33,952 52,040 60,437 74,301
Income before income tax expense 21,525 14,171 5,411 18,695 20,397
Income tax expense (451) 646 15,149 9,325 10,636
Net Income/(Loss) 21,976 13,525 (9,738) 9,370 9,761
Less: Preferred stock dividend and dividend requirement — — — 606 1,615
Net income/{loss) allocable to common stock $ 21,976 $ 13525 § (9,738) $ 8,764 $ 8,146
Per Share Information:
Net income/(loss) per share of common stock:

Basic $ 217 $ 227 % (1e6n$ 130 $ 105

Diluted $ 214 % 223 % (62 % 112 % 099
Dividends declared per share of common stock $ 1.8 $ 18 % — — % —
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:

Basic 10,141 5,947 6,009 6,722 1,724

Diluted 10,277 10,288 6,009 12,041 9,897

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $877,766 $399,926  $387,759 $683,451 $649,043
Total liabilities 561,269 303,909 303,703 580,823 490,377
Shareholders’ equity 316,497 96,017 84,056 102,628 158,666
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

We are a fully integrated, self-managed finance and investment
management company that specializes in credit-sensitive
structured financial products. To date, our investment pro-
grams have focused on loans and securities backed by income-
producing commercial real estate assets. From the commence-
ment of our finance business in 1997 through December 31,
2004, we have completed over $4.3 billion of real estate-
related investments both directly and on behalf of our
managed funds. We conduct our operations as a real estate
investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes.

Currently, we make balance sheet investments for our own
account and manage a series of private equity funds on behalf
of institutional and individual investors. Since we commenced
our investment management business in March 2000, we have
co-sponsored three funds: CT Mezzanine Partners | LLC, CT
Mezzanine Partners I LP and CT Mezzanine Partners 111, Inc.,
which we refer to as Fund I, Fund 1I and Fund III, respectively.

Developments During Fiscal Year 2004

On May 11, 2004, we closed on the initial tranche of a direct
public offering to designated controlled affiliates of W. R.
Berkley Corporation, which we refer to as Berkley. We issued
1,310,000 shares of our class A comumon stock and stock pur-
chase warrants to purchase 365,000 shares of our class A com-
mon stock for a total purchase price of $30.7 million. On June
21, 2004, we closed on the second tranche of the direct public
offering and issued an additional 325,000 shares of our class A
common stock for a total purchase price of $7.6 million. The
warrants to purchase 365,000 shares of our class A common
stock, which were set to expire on December 31, 2004, were
exercised on September 13, 2004 for a total purchase price of
$8.5 million. Pursuant to a director designation right granted
to Berkley in the transaction, we appointed Joshua A. Polan to
our board of directors.

In June and July of 2004, CT Investment Management Co.
LLC, our wholly-owned investment management subsidiary,
was approved as a Special Servicer by Fitch Ratings, Standard
& Poor’s and Moody’s [nvestors Service. These approvals allow
CT Investment Management Co. to act as a named Special
Servicer for CMBS and B Note investments. As Special
Servicer, we believe CT Investment Management Co. will be
able to increase the control it has in managing certain portions
of our portfolio while potentially generating additional fee
income. Approval from the rating agencies was based upon,
among other things, our experience in managing and working
out problem assets, our established asset management policies
and procedures and our technology systems. We believe our
ability to be a Special Servicer improves the asset management
of our existing portfolio, and facilitates our plan to increase
our CMBS and B Note investmenct activity.

On July 20, 2004, we closed a $320.8 million issue of collateral-
ized debt obligations, commonly known as CDOs, which were

privately offered to institutional investors. In connection with
the issuance of the CDOs, we closed on the following related
transactions, which together we call the CDO-1 transaction:

e we purchased a $251.2 million portfolio of 40 floating rate B
Notes and one mezzanine loan from GMAC Commercial
Mortgage Corporation;

¢ we contributed those assets, along with $72.9 million of B
Notes, mezzanine loans and subordinate CMBS from our
own balance sheet, to Capital Trust RE CDO 2004-1 Ltd.,
our consolidated wholly-owned subsidiary that we refer to
as CDO-1;

9 CDO-1 issued $320.8 million of floating rate CDOs secured
by the assets contributed to it;

* CDO-1 sold all of the $252.8 million of CDOs that are

rated investment grade to third-party investors; and

¢ we acquired and retained all of the $68.1 million of unrated
and below investment grade rated CDOs in addition to all
of CDO-1% $3.2 million of equity.

We consolidate CDO-1 into our financial statements, with the
entity’s investments shown as loans receivable and the invest-
ment grade notes held by third-parties shown as direct liabili-
ties on our balance sheet. As a result of the CDO-1 transaction,
our balance sheet assets increased by $251.2 million and we
recorded $252.8 million of CDOs as liabilities at the time of
the closing.

The CDO-1 transaction provided us with a number of signifi-
cant benefits including:

¢ increased our balance sheet interest earning assets by
$251.2 million;

e created long-term, non-recourse financing at an all-in bor-
rowing cost that is significantly lower than our pre-existing
sources of debt capital;

e obtained long-term, floating rate financing that matches
both the interest rate index and duration of our assets;

* extended the useful life of the financing through a four year
reinvestment period during which principal proceeds from
the initial CDQ assets can be reinvested in qualifying
replacement assets; and

e established us as a CDO issuer and collateral manager,
which we believe will facilitate our issuance of additional

CDOs in the future.

On July 28, 2004, we closed on a public offering of our class A
common stock pursuant to which we sold 1,888,289 shares and
certain selling shareholders sold 2,136,711 shares obtained
upon the concurrent conversion of $44,871,000 of our out-
standing convertible junior subordinated debentures. All
of the 4,025,000 shares were sold to the public at a price of
$23.75 per share. After payment of underwriting discounts and
commissions and expenses, we received net proceeds from the
offering of $41.6 million.

On September 29, 2004, following our issuance of a notice of
redemption to be effected on September 30, 2004, the external




holders of the remaining $44,871,000 principal amount of our
step up convertible junior subordinated debentures outstand-
ing converted the entire principal amount due thereon into
2,136,711 shares of our class A common stock at a conversion
price of approximately $21.00 per share.

We have entered into a contract to obtain certain outsourced
services from Global Realty Qutsourcing, Inc., which we refer
to as GRO, a company in which we have an equity investment
and on whose board of directors our president and chief execu-
tive officer serves. Pursuant to the contract, GRO provides six-
teen dedicated employees to assist us in menitoring assets and
evaluating potential investments, fifteen of whom are located
in Chennai, India. GRO began performing these services for
us in April 2004 in advance of concluding negotiation of the
definitive agreement.

Balance Sheet Overview

At December 31, 2003, we had four investments in Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Gold securities with a face
value of $19,146,000. These securities were sold during the
second quarter of 2004 resulting in a gain of $300,000 to their
amortized cost.

We held 19 investments in 14 separate issues of commercial
mortgage-backed securities with an aggregate face value of
$271,757,000 at December 31, 2004. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we purchased four investments in three
separate issues of commercial mortgage-backed securities. The
securities had a face value of $61,293,000 and were purchased
at a discount for $59,551,000. During the year ended December
31, 2004, we received full satisfaction of one of the issues pur-
chased in 2003 for $5,000,000 and received amortization pay-
ments of $48,000 on one of the issues purchased in 2004.
Commercial mortgage-backed securities with a face value of
$61,245,000 earn interest at a variable rate, which averages the
London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus 2.28% (4.67%
at December 31, 2004). The remaining commercial mortgage-
backed securities, $210,512,000 face value, earn interest at
fixed rates averaging 7.65% of the face value. We purchased the
commercial mortgage-backed securities at discounts. As of
December 31, 2004, the remaining discount to be amortized
into income over the remaining lives of the securities was
$22,338,000. At December 31, 2004, with discount amortiza-
tion, the commercial mortgage-backed securities earn interest
at a blended rate of 8.58% of the face value less the unamor-
tized discount. As of December 31, 2004, the securities were
carried at fair value of $247,765,000, reflecting a $3,621,000

unrealized gain to their amortized cost.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we purchased or
originated six property mezzanine loans for $77,282,000 and
63 B Notes for $412,420,000, received partial repayments on
34 loans totaling $18,215,000 and one mortgage loan, three
property mezzanine loan and 12 B Notes toraling $98,207,000
were satisfied and repaid. We have no outstanding loan com-
mitments at December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, we

 ————————— T

had outstanding loans receivable totaling approximately
$556.2 million.

At December 31, 2004, we had 67 performing loans receivable
with a current carrying value of $553,126,000. Three of the
loans totaling $80,729,000 bear interest at an average fixed
rate of interest of 10.37%. The 64 remaining loans, totaling
$473,928,000, bear interest at a variable rate of interest aver-
aging LIBOR plus 4.91% (7.32% at December 31, 2004). One
mortgage loan receivable with an original principal balance of
$8,000,000 reached maturity on July 15, 2001 and has not
been repaid with respect to principal and interest. In
December 2002, the loan was written down to $4,000,000
through a charge to the allowance for possible credit losses.
Since the write-down, we have received proceeds of $962,000
reducing the carrying value of the loan to $3,038,000. In
accordance with our policy for revenue recognition, income
recognition has been suspended on this loan and for the year
ended December 31, 2004, $930,000 of potential interest
income has not been recorded. All other loans are performing
in accordance with their terms.

At December 31, 2004, we had investments in Funds of
$21,376,000, including $4,901,000 of unamortized costs that
were capitalized in connection with entering into our venture
agreement with Citigroup Alternative Investments LLC and
the commencement of the related fund management business.
These costs are being amortized over the lives of the Funds and
the venture agreement and are reflected as a reduction in
income/(loss) from equity investments in Funds.

We utilize borrowings under a committed credit facility, along
with repurchase obligations, to finance our balance sheet
assets and we utilized CDOs as a source of financing for the
first time in 2004 in connection with the CDO-1 transaction.

At December 31, 2004, we had $65,176,000 of outstanding
borrowings under our $150.0 million credit facility, with $5.8
million of the remaining $84.8 million of available credit
available to be borrowed without the need to pledge additional
collateral assets. The credir facility provides for advances to
fund lender-approved loans and investments made by us.
Borrowings under the credir facility are secured by pledges of
assets owned by us and bear interest at specified spreads over
LIBOR, which spreads vary based upon the perceived risk of
the pledged assets. The credit facility provides for margin calls
on asset-specific borrowings in the event of asset quality
andfor market value deterioration as determined under the
credit facility. The credir facility contains customary represen-
tations and warranties, covenants and conditions and events
of default. Based upon borrowings in place at December 31,
2004, the effective interest rate on the credit facility was
LIBOR plus 1.74% (4.02% at December 31, 2004). As of
December 31, 2004, we had unamortized capitalized costs
of $474,000 that are being amortized over the remaining life of
the facility (6.5 months at December 31, 2004). After amor-
tizing these costs to interest expense, the all-in effective
borrowing cost on the facility as of December 31, 2004 was

CAPITAL TRUST



CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(continued)

5.37% based upon the amount currently outstanding on the
credit facility.

At December 31, 2003, we had borrowed $11,651,000 under a
$75 million term redeemable securities contract. This term
redeemable securities contract expired on February 28, 2004
and was repaid by refinancing the previously financed assets
under the credit facility.

On August 17, 2004, we entered into a repurchase obligation
with an existing counterparty, pursuant to the terms of a mas-
ter repurchase agreement that allows us to incur $50.0 million
of repurchase obligations to finance specific assets. At
December 31, 2004, the master repurchase agreement was uti-
lized to finance nine loans. At December 31, 2004, we have
sold loans with a book and market value of $32,215,000 and
have a liability to repurchase these assets for $20,424,000. The
master repurchase agreement terminates on September 1,
2007, and bears interest at specified rates over LIBOR based
upon each asset included in the obligation.

At December 31, 2004, we are obligated to three counterpar-
ties under repurchase agreements and have sold loans with a
book and market value of $341,993,000 and have a liability to
repurchase these assets for $225,091,000. Based upon advances
in place at December 31, 2004, the blended rate on the repur-
chase obligations is LIBOR plus 1.02% (3.32% at December
31, 2004). We had unamortized capitalized costs of $316,000
as of December 31, 2004, which are being amortized over the
remaining lives of the repurchase obligations. After amortizing
these costs to interest expense based upon the amount cur-
rently outstanding on the repurchase obligations, the all-in
effective borrowing cost on the repurchase obligations as of
December 31, 2004 was 3.41%. We expect to enter into new
repurchase obligations at their maturity or settle the repur-
chase obligations with the proceeds from the repayment of the
underlying financed asset.

On July 20, 2004, CDO-1 issued six tranches of investment
grade rated CDOs with a principal amount of $252,778,000 to
third party investors in the CDO-1 transaction described above
under the caption “Developments During Fiscal Year 2004”
above. We purchased through a wholly-owned subsidiary the
four remaining tranches of unrated and below investment grade
rated CDOs and the equity interests issued by CDO-1. CDO-1
holds assets, consisting of loans, CMBS and cash totaling
$324,074,000, which serves as collateral for the CDOs. The six
investment grade tranches were issued with floating rate
coupons with a combined weighted average rate of LIBOR +
0.62% (3.03% at December 31, 2004) and have a remaining
expected life of 4.5 years as of December 31, 2004. We incurred
$5,508,000 of issuance costs which will be amortized on a level
yield basis over the average life of CDO-1. CDO-1 was struc-
tured to match fund the cash flows from a significant portion of
our existing and newly acquired B notes, mezzanine loans and
CMBS. For accounting purposes, CDO-1 is consolidated in our
financial statements. The six investment grade tranches are
treated as a secured financing, and are non-recourse to us.

Proceeds from the sale of the six investment grade tranches
issued by CDO-1 were used to purchase a $251.2 million port-
folio of B notes and mezzanine loans from a third party which
were contributed to and pledged as collateral to secure repay-
ment of the CDOs. The $72.9 million remaining assets
pledged as collateral were contributed from our existing portfo-

lio of loans and CMBS.

We were party to four cash flow interest rate swaps with a total
notional value of $134 million as of December 31, 2004. These
cash flow interest rate swaps effectively convert floating rate
debt to fixed rate debt, which is utilized to finance assets that
earn interest at fixed rates. We receive a rate equal to LIBOR
(2.30% at December 31, 2004) and pay an average rate of
4.15%. The market value of the swaps at December 31, 2004
was $194,000, which is recorded as an interest rate hedge asset
and as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
gain/(loss) on our balance sheet.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities,” an interpretation of Accounting Research
Bulletin 51. Interpretation No. 46 provides guidance on iden-
tifying entities for which control is achieved through means
other than through voting rights, and how to determine when
and which business enterprise should consolidate a variable
interest entity. In addition, Interpretation No. 46 requires that
both the primary beneficiary and all other enterprises with a
significant variable interest in a variable interest entity make
additional disclosures. The transitional disclosure require-

* ments took effect almost immediately and are required for all

financial statements initially issued after January 31, 2003. In
December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued a revision of Interpretation No. 46, Interpretation No.
46R, to clarify the provisions of Interpretation No. 46. The
application of Interpretation No. 46R is effective for public
companies, other than small business issuers, after March 15,
2004. We have evaluated all of our investments and other
interests in entities that may be deemed variable interest enti-
ties under the provisions of Interpretation No. 46 and have
concluded that no additional entities need to be consolidated.

In evaluating Interpretation No. 46R, we concluded that we
could no longer consolidate CT Convertible Trust 1, the entity
which had purchased our step up convertible junior subordi-
nated debentures and issued company-obligated, mandatory
redeemable, convertible trust common and preferred securi-
ties. In 1998, we had issued the convertible junior subordi-
nated debentures and had purchased the convertible trust
common securities. The consolidation of CT Convertible
Trust [ resulted in the elimination of both the convertible jun-
ior subordinated debentures and the convertible trust common
securities with the convertible trust preferred securities being
reported on our balance sheet after liabilities but before equity
and the related expense being reported on the income state-
ment below income taxes and net of income tax benefits.




After the deconsolidation, we reported the convertible junior
subordinated debentures as liabilities and the convertible trust
common securities as other assets. The expense from the pay-
ment of interest on the debentures was reported as interest and
related expenses on convertible junior subordinated deben-
tures and the income received from our investment in the
common securities was reported as a component of interest
and related income. We have elected to restate prior periods
for the application of Interpretation No. 46R. The restatement
was effected by a cumulative type change in accounting princi-
ple on January 1, 2002. There was no change to previously
reported net income as a result of such restatement.

As of December 31, 2004, the entire $92,524,000 aggregate
principal amount of our convertible junior subordinated deben-
tures outstanding at December 31, 2003 had been redeemed or
converted into class A common stock. Certain holders con-
verted $44,871,000 of the principal amount due on the con-
vertible junior subordinated debentures in connection with the
closing of our public offering of class A common stock on July
28, 2004. On September 29, 2004, following our issuance of a
notice of redemption to be effected on September 30, 2004,
holders of $44,871,000 principal amount of the convertible
junior subordinared debentures outstanding converted the prin-
cipal amount due thereon into 2,136,711 shares of our class A
common stock at a conversion price of approximately $21.00
per share. The remaining $2,982,000 of the convertible junior
subordinated debentures outstanding were repaid to the Trust
and then the Trust redeemed the common securities held by us.

In 2000, we announced an open market share repurchase pro-
gram under which we may purchase, from time to time, up to
666,667 shares of our class A common stock. Since that time
the authorization has been increased by the board of directors
to purchase cumulatively up to 2,366,923 shares of class A
common stock. In December 31, 2004 we had 666,339 shares
remaining authorized for repurchase under the program. We
did not repurchase any of our common stock during the year
ended December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2004, we had 15,052,262 shares of our class

A common stock outstanding.

Investment Management Overview

We operated principally as a balance sheet investor until the
start of our investment management business in March 2000
when we entered into a venture with affiliates of Citigroup
Alternative Investments to co-sponsor and invest capital in a
series of commercial real estate mezzanine investment funds
managed by us. Pursuant to the venture agreement, we have
co-sponsored Fund [, Fund Il and Fund IIl. We have capital-
ized costs of $4,901,000, net, from the formation of the ven-
ture and the Funds that are being amortized over the
remaining anticipated lives of the Funds and the related ven-
ture agreement.

Fund 1 commenced its investment operations in May 2000
with equity capital supplied solely by Citigroup Alternative
Investments (75%) and us (25%). From May 11, 2000 to April
8, 2001, the investment period for the fund, Fund [ completed
$330 million of total investments in 12 transactions. On
January 31, 2003, we purchased the interest in Fund I held
by an affiliate of our co-sponsor, Citigroup Alternative
Investments LLC, and began consolidating the operations of
Fund I in our consolidated financial starements.

Fund II had its initial closing on equity commitments on April
9, 2001 and its final closing on August 7, 2001, ultimately rais-
ing $845.2 million of total equity commitments, including
$49.7 million (5.9%) from us and $198.9 million (23.5%) from
Citigroup Alternative Investments. Third-party private equity
investors, including public and corporate pension plans,
endowment funds, financial institutions and high net worth
individuals, made the balance of the equity commitments.
During its two-year investment period, which expired on April
9, 2003, Fund II invested $1.2 billion in 40 separate transac-
tions. Fund I utilizes leverage to increase its return on equity,
with a target debt-to-equity ratio of 2:1. Toral capital calls dur-
ing the investment period were $329.0 million. CT Investment
Management Co. LLC, our wholly-owned taxable REIT sub-
sidiary, acts as the investment manager to Fund Il and receives
100% of the base management fees paid by the fund. As of
April 9, 2003, the end of the Fund I investment period, CT
Investment Management Co. began earning annual base man-
agement fees of 1.287% of invested capital. Based upon Fund
II's invested capital at December 31, 2004, the date upon which
the calculation for the next quarter is based, CT Investment

Management Co. will earn base management fees of $181,000
for the quarter ending March 31, 2005.

We and Citigroup Alternative Investments, through our col-
lective ownership of the general partner, are also entitled to
receive incentive management fees from Fund Il if the return
on invested equity is in excess of 10% after all invested capital
has been returned. The Fund Il incentive management fees are
split equally between Citigroup Alternative Investments and
us. We will pay 25% of our share of the Fund II incentive man-
agement fees as long-term incentive compensation to our
employees. No such incentive fees have been earned at
December 31, 2004 and as such, no amount of such potential
fees has been accrued as income in our financial statements.
The amount of incentive fees to be received in the future will
depend upon a number of factors, including the level of inter-
est rates and the fund’s ability to generate returns in excess of
10%, which is in turn impacted by the duration and ultimate
performance of the fund’s assets. Potential incentive fees
received as Fund 1l winds down could result in significant
additional income from operations in certain periods during
which such payments can be recorded as income. If Fund 11's
assets were sold and liabiliries were settled on January 1, 2005
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at the recorded book value, and the fund’s equity and income
were distributed, we would record approximately $9.5 million
of gross incentive fees.

We do not anticipate making any additional equity contribu-
tions to Fund II or its general partner. Our net investment in
Fund II and its general partner at December 31, 2004 was $5.5
million. As of December 31, 2004, Fund II had 10 outstanding
loans and investments totaling $131.9 million, all of which were
performing in accordance with the terms of their agreements.

On June 2, 2003, Fund III effected its initial closing on equity
commitments and on August 8, 2003, its final closing, raising a
total of $425.0 million in equiry commitments. Our equity com-
mirment was $20.0 million (4.7%) and Citigroup Alternative
Investments’ equity commitment was $80.0 million (18.8%),
with the balance made by third-party private equity investors.
From the initial closing through December 31, 2004, we have
made equity investments in Fund Il of $11,260,000. Through
December 31, 2004, Fund !11 had made loans and investments
of approximately $800 million and as of December 31, 2004,
Fund I had nineteen outstanding loans and investments
totaling $602.4 million, all of which were performing in
accordance with the terms of their agreements.

CT Investment Management Co. receives 100% of the base
management fees from Fund [ calculated at a rate equal to
1.42% per annum of committed capital during Fund [l
two-year investment period, which expires June 2, 2005, and
1.42% of invested capital thereafter. Based upon Fund HI’s
$425.0 million of total equity commitments, CT Investment
Management Co. will earn annual base management fees of
$6.0 million during the investment period. We and our
co-sponsor are also entitled to receive incentive management
fees from Fund I1I if the return on invested equity is in excess of
10% after all invested capital has been returned. We will
receive 62.5% and our co-sponsor will receive 37.5% of the
total incentive management fees. We will distribute a portion
of our share (up to 40%) of the Fund Il incentive management
fees as long-term incentive compensation to our employees.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2003

We reported net income of $21,976,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004, an increase of $8,451,000 from the net
income of $13,525,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.
These increases were primarily the result of an increase in net
interest income from loans and other investments. In 2004, we
raised significant new capital, increased interest earning assets
by $442 million, and financed our business more efficiently
through the CDO-1 transaction. As a result, debt costs as a per-
centage of interest income have decreased. The significance of

the more efficient financing is further demonstrated when $2.8
million of prepayment penalties which were collected in 2003
are eliminated from interest income for comparison purposes.

Interest and related income from loans and other investments
amounted to $46,561,000 for the year ended December 31,
2004, an increase of $8,037,000 from the $38,524,000 amount
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Average interest-earning
assets increased from approximately $359.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 to approximately $552.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. The average interest rate
earned on such assets decreased from 10.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 to 8.4% for the year ended December 31,
2004. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized
$2.8 million in additional income on the early repayment of
loans. Without this additional interest income, the average
earning rate for the 2003 year would have been 9.9%. The
decrease in rates that occurred was due to the repayment of two
fixed rates loans (which earned interest at rates in excess of the
portfolio average), a change in the mix of our investment port-
folio to include lower risk B Notes in 2004 (which generally
carry lower interest rates than mezzanine loans) and a general
decrease in spreads being obtained on newly originated invest-
ments, partially offset by a higher average LIBOR rate, which
increased by 0.3% to 1.5% for the 2004 year. ‘

We utilize our existing credit facility, collateralized debt obli-
gations and repurchase obligations to finance our interest-
earning assets.

Interest and related expenses on secured debt amounted to
$13,724,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase
of $3,879,000 from the $9,845,000 amount for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The increase in expense was due to an
increase in the amount of average interest-bearing liabilities
outstanding from approximately $193.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 to approximately $333.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004, offset partially by a
decrease in the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities
from 5.1% to 4.1% for the same periods. The decrease in the
average rate is substantially due to the use of collateralized debt
obligations to finance a large portion of the portfolio at lower
rates than the credit facility and term redeemable securities
contract, partially offset by the increase in average LIBOR.

We also utilized the convertible junior subordinated debentures
to finance our interest-eamning assets. During the year ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recognized $6,417,000
and $9,730,000, respectively, of expenses related to the con-
vertible junior subordinated debentures. The decrease results
from the conversion of one half of the principal amount due on
the debentures into common stock on July 28, 2004 and the
conversion of the remaining debentures into common stock on
September 29, 2004.




Other revenues increased $1,049,000 from $9,599,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2003 to $10,648,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2004. The increase is primarily due to the
receipt of management fees from Fund III for the full year in
2004 as compared to the receipt of fees for only part of the year
in 2003, as Fund 11l commenced its investment period in June
2003. The increase also resulted from an increase in earnings
from our equity investment in Fund [l and the recognition of
a $300,000 gain on the sale of available-for-sale securities.
This was partially offset by a decrease in the management fees
from Fund II, due to lower levels of investment in 2004 as the
fund winds down.

General and administrative expenses increased $1,909,000
to $15,229,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$13,320,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily
due 1o increases in employee compensation and benefits, inter-
nal control documentation and testing costs in excess of
$500,000, and addirional expenses related to the services pro-
vided under the GRO contract, offset by reduced legal costs.

Quarterly, management reevaluates the reserve for possible
credit losses based upon our current portfolio of loans. Each
loan in our portfolio is evaluated using our loan risk rating
system which considers loan to value, debt vield, cash flow
stability, exit plan, loans sponsorship, the loan structure and
any other factors necessary to assess the likelihood of delin-
quency or default. If we believe that there is a potential for
delinquency or default, a downside analysis is prepared to esti-
mate the value of the collateral underlying our loan, and this
potential loss is multiplied by the default likelihood. A detailed
review of the entire portfolio was completed at December 31,
2004 and certain loans that we previously had specific concerns
about were either repaid or the conditions which caused the
concemn were eliminated. Based upon the changes in conditions
of these loans and the evaluations completed on the remainder
of the portfolio, we concluded thar a reserve for possible credit
losses was no longer warranted and the reserve was recaptured.

Our CMBS investments are carried as available-for-sale, and
are therefore valued at their estimated fair value with net
unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of accumu-
lated other comprehensive income/(loss) in shareholders’
equity, unless an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed
to have occurred. During the fourth quarter of 2004, changes
in our expected cash flow on two of our CMBS investments
resulted in our concluding that these CMBS had incurred
other-than-temporary impairment and as a result, we recorded
a charge of $5.9 million through the income statement to
record these investments at the current market value. We
expect a full recovery from our other securities and did not
recognize any other-than-temporary impairment on the remain-
ing CMBS investments.

We have made an election to be taxed as a REIT under
Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, commencing with the tax year ending December 31,
2003. As a REIT, we generally are not subject to federal
income tax. To maintain qualification as a REIT, we must dis-
tribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our share-
holders and meet certain other requirements. If we fail to
qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to fed-
eral income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate
rates. We may also be subject to certain state and local taxes
on our income and property. Under certain circumstances, fed-
eral income and excise taxes may be due on our undistributed
taxable income.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we were in compliance with
all REIT requirements and, as such, have not provided for
income tax expense on our REIT taxable income for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. We also have taxable
REIT subsidiaries which are subject to tax at regular corporate
rates. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a
$451,000 income tax benefit resulting from losses generated by
our taxable REIT subsidiaries. During the year ended December
31, 2003, we recorded $646,000 of income tax expense for
income that was earned by our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2002

We reported net income of $13,525,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2003, an increase of $23,263,000 from the net
loss of $9,738,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. This
increase was primarily the result of certain transactions in
2002 which reduced net income, including the settlement of
three cash flow hedges resulting in a $6.7 million charge to
earnings, the write-down of deferred tax assets as a result of our
decision to elect REIT starus for 2003, the write-down of a
loan in Fund 1 which caused a loss from equity investments in
funds and the inability to utilize capital losses generated in
2002 to reduce current taxes. Also contributing to the increase
in net income was the reduction in income taxes in 2003 in
connection with our decision to elect REIT status. These
increases were partially offset by a recapture of the allowance
for possible credit losses in 2002.

Interest and related income from loans and other investments
amounted to $38,246,000 for the year ended December 31,
2003, a decrease of $8,833,000 from the $47,079,000 amount
for the year ended December 31, 2002. Average interest-
earning assets decreased from approximately $473.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2002 to approximately $356.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The average
interest rate earned on such assets increased from 9.9% in
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2002 to 10.7% in 2003. During the year ended December 31,
2003 and December 31, 2002, the Company recognized $2.8
million and $1.6 million, respectively, in additional income on
the early repayment of loans and investments. Without this
additional interest income, the earning rate for the 2003
period would have been 9.9% versus 9.6% for the 2002 period.
LIBOR rates averaged 1.2% for the year ended December 31,
2003 and 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2002, a
decrease of 0.6%. The portion of our average assets that earn
interest at fixed rates did not decrease proportionately to the
decrease in assets that earn interest at variable rates in 2003,
which served to offset the decrease in earnings from the
decrease in the average LIBOR rate.

Interest and related expenses amounted to $9,845,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2003, a decrease of $8,124,000 from
the $17,969,000 amount for the year ended December 31,
2002. The decrease in expense was due to a decrease in the
amount of average interest-bearing liabilities outstanding from
approximately $260.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 to approximately $193.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and a decrease in the average rate on
interest-bearing liabilities from 6.9% to 5.1% for the same
periods. The decrease in the average rate is substantially due to
the decrease in swap levels and rates and the increased use of
repurchase agreements as a percentage of total debt in the
2003 period at lower spreads to LIBOR than the credit facility
utilized in the 2002 period.

During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we rec-
ognized $9,730,000 and $16,192,000, respectively, of net
expenses related to our outstanding step up convertible junior
subordinated debentures. This amount consisted of distribu-
tions to the holders totaling $9,252,000 and $14,887,000,
respectively, and amortization of discount and origination
costs totaling $478,000 and $1,305,000, respectively, during
the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The decrease in
the distribution amount and amortization of discount and orig-
ination costs resulted from the elimination of the distributions
and discount and fees on the non-convertible amount of the
convertible trust preferred securities, which was redeemed on
September 30, 2002.

Other revenues decreased $325,000 from $9,924,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2002 to $9,599,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2003. In 2002, Fund I increased its
allowance for possible credit losses by establishing a specific
reserve for the single non-performing loan it was carrying. The
loss from equity investments in Funds during the year ended
December 31, 2002 was primarily due to this additional
expense. On January 31, 2003, we purchased from affiliates of
Citigroup Alternative Investments their 75% interest in Fund |
and began consolidating the operations of Fund I in our consol-
idated financial statements, which further reduced earnings

from equity investments in Funds. On January 1, 2003, the gen-
eral partner of Fund Il (owned by affiliates of us and Citigroup
Alternative Investments) voluntarily reduced by 50% the man-
agement fees charged to Fund 1I for the remainder of the
investment period due to a lower than expected level of
deployment of the Fund’s capital. This, along with the reduc-
tion in income when we began charging management fees on
invested capital for Fund 11, partially offset by the management
fees charged to Fund 111, reduced our management and advisory
fees from Funds by $2.1 million for the period. Also in 2002, we
earned a $2.0 million fee from our final advisory assignment.

General and administrative expenses decreased $676,000
to $13,320,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003 from
$13,996,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily
due to reduced employee compensation. We employed an
average of 25 employees during the year ended December 31,
2003 and 27 during the year ended December 31, 2002.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recaptured
$4,713,000 of our previously established allowance for possible
credit losses. We deemed this recapture necessary due to the
substantial reduction in the loan portfolio and a general reduc-
tion in the default risk of the loans remaining based upon cur-
rent conditions.

At December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with all REIT
requirements and as such, only provided for income tax
expense on taxable income attributed to our taxable REIT
subsidiaries in 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2004, we had $24,583,000 in cash. Qur pri-

mary sources of liquidity for 2005 are expected to be cash on
hand, cash generated from operations, principal and interest
payments received on loans and investments, and additional
borrowings under our credit facility, CDOs and repurchase
obligarions. We also believe these sources of capital will be
adequate to meet future cash requirements in 2005. We expect
that during 2005, we will use a significant amount of our avail-
able capital resources to satisfy capital contributions required
pursuant to our equity commitments to Fund [II and to origi-
nate or purchase new loans and investments for our balance
sheet. We intend to continue to employ leverage on our bal-
ance sheet assets to enhance our return on equity.

We experienced a net increase in cash of $15,845,000 during
the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to a net
decrease of $1,448,000 during the year ended December 31,
2003. Cash provided by operating activities during the year
ended December 31, 2004 was $19,580,000, compared to
$15,802,000 during the same period of 2003. For the year
ended December 31, 2004, cash used in investing activities




was $416,707,000, compared to $5,716,000 of cash provided
during the same period in 2003. The change was primarily due
to our new loan and investment activity totaling $549.0 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2004, a large percentage
of which came from our purchase of a $251.2 million portfolio
of loans from GMAC Commercial Mortgage Corporation in
connection with the CDO-1 transaction. We financed the
new investment activity with additional borrowings under our
credit facility, repurchase obligations and the CDOs issued in
the CDO-1 transaction. This, along with the cash received
from our direct share placement to Berkley and the public
offering of shares we closed on July 28, 2004, accounted for
substantially all of the change in the net cash activity from
financing activities.

During the investment periods for Fund [ and Fund II, we gen-
erally did not originate or acquire loans or commercial mort-
gage-backed securities directly for our own balance sheet
portfolio. When the Fund Il investment period ended, we
began originating loans and investments for our own account
that were not targeted for investment by Fund III. We expect
to use available working capital to make contributions to Fund

I1I or any other funds sponsored by us as and when required by
the equity commitments made by us to such funds.

At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding borrowings under
our credit facility of $65,176,000, collateralized debt obliga-
tions of $252,778,000 and cutstanding repurchase obligations
totaling $225,091,000. The terms of these agreements are
described above under the caprion “Balance Sheet Overview.”
At December 31, 2004, we had pledged assets that enable us to
borrow an additional $5.9 million and had unpledged assets of
$74.3 million, which when pledged will generate approxi-
mately $55 million of additional liquidity. We had $235.5 mil-
lion of credit available for the financing of new and existing
unpledged assets pursuant to these sources of financing.
Additional liquidity will be created when assets that are cur-
rently pledged as collateral for the credit facility and repur-
chase obligations are pledged to existing and newly issued
CDOs, as the percentage of collateral value that can be
financed, or advance rates, pursuant to the CDO’s are gener-

ally higher.

The following rable sets forth information about our contrac-
tual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Payment Due by Period

Less Than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(in thousands)

Long-Term Debt Obligations
Credit Facility $ 65,176 $ 65,176 $ — $ — $ —
Repurchase obligations 225,091 25,732 199,359 — —
Collateralized debt obligations 252,718 — — — 252,718
Operating Lease Obligations 3,413 975 1,950 488 —
Commitment to Fund TII{1} 9,675 9,675 — — —
Total(?) $556,133 $101,558 $201,309 $488 $252,778

(1) Fund IIT's investment period continues until June 2005 at which time our equity commitment to the fund expires. While we do not believe that all of the equity commitment will

be called, we have presented it if all of the commitment is called prior to the expiration.

(2) We are also subject to interest rate swaps for which we can not estimate future payments due.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Impact of Inflation

Qur operating results depend in part on the difference between
the interest income earned on our interest-earning assets and
the interest expense incurred in connection with our interest-
bearing liabilities. Changes in the general level of intetest
rates prevailing in the economy in response to changes in the
rate of inflation or otherwise can affect our income by affect-
ing the spread between our interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities, as well as, among other things, the value of

our interest-earning assets and our ability to realize gains from
the sale of assets and the average life of our interest-earning
assets. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors,
including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic
and international economic and political considerations, and
other factors beyond our control. We employ the use of corre-
lated hedging strategies to limit the effects of changes in inter-
est rates on our operations, including engaging in interest rate
swaps and interest rate caps to minimize our exposure to
changes in interest rates. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to adequately protect against the foregoing risks or
that we will ultimately realize an economic benefit from any
hedging contract into which we enter.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Changes in management judgment, estimates and assumptions
could have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements. Management has the obligation to ensure that its
policies and methodologies are in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. During 2004, management
reviewed and evaluated its critical accounting policies and
believes them to be appropriate. Qur accounting policies are
described in Note 5 to our consclidared financial statements.
The following is a summary of our accounting policies that we
believe are the most affected by management judgments, esti-
mates and assumptions:

Securities Available-for-sale

We have designated our investments in commercial mortgage-
backed securities and certain other securities as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair
value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a com-
ponent of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
in shareholders’ equity. Many of these investments are rela-
tively illiquid and management must estimate their values. In
making these estimates, management utilizes market prices
provided by dealers who make markets in these securities, but
may, under certain circumstances, adjust these valuarions
based on management's judgment. Changes in the valuations
do not affect our reported income or cash flows, but impact
shareholders’ equity and, accordingly, book value per share.

We account for CMBS under Emerging Issues Task Force
99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized
Financial Assets.” Under Emerging Issues Task Force 99-20,
when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the
cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepay-
ment and credit loss experience and the present value of the
revised cash flows using the current expected yield is less than
the present value of the previously estimated remaining cash
flows, adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period,
an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have
occurred. Accordingly, the security is written down to fair
value with the resulting change being included in income and
a new cost basis established with the original discount or
premium written off when the new cost basis is established. In
accordance with this guidance, on a quarterly basis, when sig-
nificant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows
previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and
credit loss experience, we calculate a revised yield based on the
current amortized cost of the investment, including any other-
than-temporary impairments recognized to date, and the
revised cash flows. The revised yield is then applied prospec-
tively to recognize interest income.

Management must also assess whether unrealized losses on
securities reflect a decline in value that is other than temporary,
and, accordingly, write the impaired security down to its fair
value, through a charge to earnings. We have assessed our secu-
rities to first determine whether there is an indication of possible
other-than-temporary impairment and then where an indica-
tion exists to determine if other-than-temporary impairment
did in fact exist. Significant judgment of management is
required in this analysis that includes, but is not limited to,
making assumptions regarding the collectibility of the principal
and interest, net of related expenses, on the underlying loans.

Income on these available-for-sale securities is recognized
based upon a number of assumptions that are subject to uncer-
tainties and contingencies. Examples of these include, among
other things, the rate and timing of principal payments,
including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations,
the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations.
Additional factors that may affect our reported interest income
on our mortgage-backed securities include interest payment
shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage
loans and the timing and magnitude of credit losses on the
mortgage loans underlying the securities that are a result of the
general condition of the real estate market, including competi-
tion for tenants and their related credit quality, and changes in
market rental rates. These uncertainties and contingencies are
difficult to predict and are subject to future events that may

-alter the assumptions.

Loans Receivable and Provision for Loan Losses

We purchase and originate commercial mortgage and mezza-
nine loans to be held as long-term investments at amortized
cost. Management must periodically evaluate each of these
loans for possible impairment. Impairment is indicated when it
is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. If
a loan were determined to be permanently impaired, we would
write down the loan through a charge to the reserve for possible
credit losses. Given the nature of our loan portfolio and the
underlying commercial real estate collateral, significant judg-
ment of management is required in determining permanent
impairment and the resulting charge to the reserve, which
includes but is not limited to making assumptions regarding the
value of the real estate that secures the mortgage loan.

Our accounting policies require that an allowance for esti-
mated credit losses be reflected in our financial statements
based upon an evaluation of known and inherent risks in our
mortgage and mezzanine loans. Quarterly, management reeval-
uates the reserve for possible credit losses based upon our cur-
rent portfolio of loans. Each loan in our portfolio is evaluated
using our loan risk rating system which considers loan to




value, debt yield, cash flow stability, exit plan, loans sponsor-
ship, the loan structure and any other factors necessary to
assess the loans likelihood of delinquency or default. If we
believe that there is a potential for delinquency or default, a
downside analysis is prepared to estimate the value of the col-
lateral underlying our loan, and this potential loss is multiplied
by the default likelihood. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately
differ from these estimates.

Quarterly, management reevaluates the reserve for possible
credit losses based upon our current portfolio of loans. Each
loan in our portfolio is evaluated using our loan risk rating sys-
tem which considers loan to value, debt yield, cash flow stabil-
ity, exit plan, loans sponsorship, the loan structure and any
other factors necessary to assess the likelihood of delinquency
or default. If we believe that there is a potential for delin-
quency or default, a downside analysis is prepared to estimate
the value of the collareral underlying our loan, and this poten-
tial loss is multiplied by the default likelihood. A detailed
review of the entire portfolio was completed at December 31,
2004 and certain loans that we previously had specific con-
cerns about were either repaid or the conditions which caused
the concern were eliminated. Based upon the changes in con-
ditions of these loans and the evaluations completed on the
remainder of the portfolio, we concluded that a reserve for
possible credit losses was no longer warranted and the reserve
was recaptured.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income for our loans and investments is recognized
over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and recognized on the accrual basis.

Fees received in connection with loan commitments, net of
direct expenses, are deferred until the loan is advanced and are
then recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to
yield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are recognized
at expiration. Exit fees are also recognized over the estimated
term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Purchased dis-
counts for credit quality are amorrized over the estimated term
of the loan as an adjustment to yields. Cash flows received in
excess of original estimates are recognized prospectively as an
adjustment to yield.

Income recognition is generally suspended for loans at the ear-
lier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due or
when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of
income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recognition is
resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and
performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

Fees from investment management services and special servic-
ing are recognized when earned on an accrual basis. Fees from
professional advisory services are generally recognized at the

point at which all of our services have been petformed and no
significant contingencies exist with respect to entitlement to
payment. Fees from asset management services are recognized
as services are rendered.

We account for incentive fees we can potentially earn from the
Funds in accordance with Method 1 of Emerging Issues Task
Force Topic D-96. Under Method 1, no incentive income is
recorded until all contingencies have been eliminated.
Method 1 is the preferred method as it eliminates the potential
that revenue will be recognized in one quarter and reversed in
a future quarter. Incentive income received prior to that date is
recorded as unearned income (a liability). No incentive fees
have been earned at December 31, 2004 and as such, no
amount of such potential fees has been accrued as income in
our financial statements. The amount of incentive fees to be
received in the future will depend upon a number of factors,
including the level of interest rates and the fund’s ability to
generate returns in excess of 10%, which is in turn impacted
by the duration and ultimate performance of the fund’s assets.
Potential incentive fees received as Fund Il winds down could
result in significant additional income from operations in cer-
tain periods during which such payments can be recorded as
income. If Fund II's assets were sold and liabilities were settled
on January 1, 2005 at the recorded book value, and the fund’s
equity and income were distributed, we would record approxi-
mately $9.5 million of gross incentive fees.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We comply with the provisions of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 encourages
the adoption of a new fair-value based accounting method
for employee stock-based compensation plans. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 also permits compa-
nies to continue accounting for stock-based compensation plans
as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25.
However, companies electing to continue accounting for stock-
based compensation plans under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, must make pro forma disclosures as if they
adopted the cost recognition requirements under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123.

Through December 31, 2003, we continued to account for
stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
for awards under our stock plans in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations as the exercise price of the
stock options granted thereunder equaled the market price of
the underlying stock on the date of the grant. During the
fourth quarter of 2004, we elected to adopt the fair value

CapiTAL TRUST
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(continued)

recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 using the modified prospective method pro-
vided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation— Transition
and Disclosure.” Under the modified prospective method, we
recognized stock-based employee compensation costs based
upon the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 effective January 1,
2004. Compensation expense is recognized on the accelerated
attribution method under Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 28.

Risk Management and Financial Instruments

We utilize derivative financial instruments as a means to help
to manage our interest rate risk exposure on a portion of our
variable rate debt obligations, through the use of cash flow
hedges. The instruments utilized are generally either pay-fixed
swaps or LIBOR-based interest rate caps, which are widely
used in the industry and typically entered into with major
financial institutions. Our accounting policies generally reflect
these instruments at their fair value with unrealized changes in
fair value reflected in “Accumulated other comprehensive
income” on our consolidated balance sheets. Realized effects
on cash flows are generally recognized currently in income.

Income Taxes

Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for cur-
rent or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable income.
Management believes that we have and intend to continue to
operate in a manner that will continue to allow us to be taxed
as a REIT and, as a result, do not expect to pay substantial cor-
porate-level taxes, other than taxes payable by our taxable
REIT subsidiaries. Many of these requirements, however, are
highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet these
requirements, we would be subject to Federal income tax.

New Accounting Standard

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which is a revision of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. SFAS Ne. 123(R) requires all
share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be valued at fair value on the date
of grant, and to be expensed over the applicable vesting period.
Pro forma disclosure of the income statement effects of share-
based payments is no longer an alternative. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) is effective for all
stock-based awards granted on or after July 1, 2005. In addition,
companies must also recognize compensation expense related to
any awards that are not fully vested as of the effective date.
Compensation expense for the unvested awards will be meas-
ured based on the fair value of the awards previously calculated
in developing the pro forma disclosures in accordance with the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123. As we have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 effective January 1, 2004, we do not believe
that adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) will have a marerial impact
on our future financial results.




CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

About Market Risk

The principal objective of our asset/liability management activities is to maximize net interest income, while minimizing levels of
interest rate risk. Net interest income and interest expense are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations. To mitigate the
impact of fluctuations in interest rates, we use interest rate swaps to effectively convert variable rate liabilities to fixed rate liabili-
ties for proper matching with fixed rate assets. Each derivative used as a hedge is matched with an asset or liability with which it
has a high correlation. The swap agreements are generally held-to-maturity and we do not use derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. We use interest rate swaps to effectively convert variable rate debt ro fixed rate debt for the financed portion of
fixed rate assets. The differential to be paid or received on these agreements is recognized as an adjustment to the interest expense
related to debt and is recognized on the accrual basis.

Our loans and investments, including our fund investments, are also subject to credit risk. The ultimate performance and value of
our loans and investments depends upon the owner’s ability to operate the properties that serve as our collateral so that they pro-
duce cash flows adequate to pay interest and principal due to us. To monitor this risk, our asset management team is in constant
contact with our borrowers, monitoring performance of the collateral and enforcing our rights as necessary.

The following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates at
December 31, 2004. For financial assets and debt obligations, the table presents cash flows to the expected maturity and weighted
average interest rates based upon the current carrying values. For interest rate swaps, the table presents notional amounts and
weighted average fixed pay and variable receive interest rates by contractual maturity dates. Notional amounts are used to calcu-
late the contractual cash flows to be exchanged under the contract. Weighted average variable rates are based on rates in effect as
of the reporting date.

Expected Maturity Dates

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total Fair Value
(dollars in thousands)
Assets:
Commercial Mortgage-backed
Securities
Fixed Rate $ 7811 — % 135 § 1,420 % 5015 $196,131  $210,512 $188,138
Average interest rate 9.41% — 7.64% 7.63% 9.92% 10.37% 10.31%
Variable Rate $ 278 % 6,677 $ 3,878 339,833 § 8995 $ 1,268 $ 60,929 $ 59,627
Average interest rate 4.43% 4.43% 4.43% 5.12% 4.43% 26.54% 5.45%
Loans receivable
Fixed Rate $ 821 $ 905 ¢ 7,716 $47618 § 393§ 23276 $ 80,729 $ 90,708
Average interest rate 10.09% 10.13% 8.38% 11.80% 8.48% 8.48% 10.46%
Variable Rate $148,339 $172,741 $90,096  $55,288 $ 12,895 —  $479,360 $476,211
Average interest rate 7.11 6.83% 1.47% 6.86% 8.14% — 1.08%
Interest rate swaps
Notional amounts $ 297§ 458 $5623 % 976 % 2,157  $120,368  $134,003 $ 194
Average fixed pay rate 3.69% 420%  3.15% 4.16% 4.20% 4.20% 4.15%
Average variable
receive rate 2.41% 2.29% 2.41% 2.32% 2.30% 2.30% 2.30%
Liabilities:
Credit Facility .
Variable Rate $ 65,176 — — — — — $ 65176 $ 65,176
Average interest rate 5.371% — — — — — 5.37%
Repurchase obligations
Variable Rate $ 25,732 $178,935 $20,424 — — —  $225,091 $225,091
Average interest rate 2.99% 338%  4.19% — — — 3.41%
Collateralized debt obligations
Variable Rate — — —  $88,964 $103,053 § 60,761  $252,778 $252,778
Average interest rate — — — 3.23% 3.30% 4.02% 3.45%
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, that Capiral Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assess-
ment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the cir-
cumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finan-
cial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and disposirions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as neces-
sary to permit preparation of financial statements in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and direc-
tors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the COSQO criteria. Also, in our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of
December 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 of the
Company and our report dated March 9, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

St + MLLP

New York, NY
March 9, 2005




Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and for performing
an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. Internal control over finan-
cial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-
tion of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s
system of internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i} pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(it) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matrer how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 based upon criteria in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”). Based on our assessment, management determined that the Company's
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004 based on the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework issued by COSO.

Our management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their repore which
appears herein.

Dated: March 9, 2005

John R. Klopp Brian H. Oswald
President and Chief Financial Officer
Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Statements

Capital Trust, Inc.’s management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of all financial information included in this Annual
Report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The financial statements include amounts that are based on the best estimates and judgments of
management. All financial information in this Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and have expressed herein
their unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which oversees Capital Trust, Inc.’s financial reporting process on behalf of the
Boatrd of Directors, is composed entirely of independent directors (as defined by the New York Stock Exchange). The Audit
Committee meets periodically with management, the independent accountants, and the internal auditors to review matters relat-
ing to the Company’s financial statements and financial reporting process, annual financial statement audit, engagement of inde-
pendent accountants, internal audit function, system of internal controls, and legal compliance and ethics programs as established
by Capital Trust, Inc.’s management and the Board of Directors. The internal auditors and the independent accountants periodi-
cally meet alone with the Audit Commitree and have access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Dated: March 9, 2005

John R. Klopp Brian H. Oswald
President and Chief Financial Officer
Chief Executive Officer




Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Capital Trust, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consoli-
dated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above pres-
ent fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted account-
ing principles.

R

As discussed in Note 5 to the financial statements, in 2004 the
Company changed its method of accounting for stock based
compensation.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2004 the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (R), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities an interpretation of ARB No. 51.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated March 9, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Sarnet MLLP

New York, New York
March 9, 2005
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2004 and 2003
(in thousands, except per share data)

2004 2003
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,583 $ 8738
Restricted cash 611 —
Available-for-sale securities, at fair value — 20,052
Commercial mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale, at fair value 247,765 158,136
Loans receivable, net of $6,672 reserve for possible credit losses at December 31, 2003 556,164 177,049
Equity investment in CT Mezzanine Partners [ LLC (“Fund 1),
CT Mezzanine Partners 11 LP (“Fund 11”), CT MP 11 LLC (“Fund 11 GP”)
and CT Mezzanine Partners 111, Inc. (“Fund 11"} (together “Funds”) 21,376 21,988
Deposits and other receivables 10,282 345
Accrued interest receivable 4,029 3,834
Interest rate hedge assets 194 168
Deferred income taxes 5,623 3,369
Prepaid and other assets 7,139 6,247
Total assets $877,766 $399,926
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 17,388 $ 11,041
Credit facility 65,176 38,868
Term redeemable securities contract — 11,651
Repurchase obligations 225,091 146,894
Collateralized debt obligations 252,778 —
Step up convertible junior subordinated debentures 92,248
Deferred origination fees and other revenue 836 3,207
Total liabilities 561,269 303,909
Shareholders’ equity: ’
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, 14,769 and
6,502 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively
{“class A common stock”) 148 65
Restricted class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 283 and 34 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively (“restricted class A
common stock” and rogether with class A common stock, “common stock”) 3 —
Additional paid-in capital 321,937 141,402
Unearned compensation — (247)
Accumulated other comprehensive gain/(loss) 3,815 (33,880)
Accumulated deficit (9,406) (11,323)
Total shareholders' equity 316,497 96,017
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $877,766 $399,926

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)

2004 2003 2002
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $ 46,561 $38,524 $ 47,527
Less: [nterest and related expenses (13,724) (9,845) (17,969)
Less: Interest and related expenses on step up convertible
junior subordinated debentures (6,417) (9,730) (16,192)
Income from loans and other investments, net 26,420 18,949 13,366
Other revenues:
Management and advisory fees from affiliated Funds managed 7,853 8,020 10,123
Income/(loss) from equity investments in Funds 2,407 1,526 (2,534)
Advisory and investment banking fees — — 2,207
Gain on sales of investments 300 — —
Special servicing fees 10 — —
Other interest income 78 53 128
Total other revenues 10,648 9,599 9,924
Other expenses:
General and administrative 15,229 13,320 13,996
Other interest expense — — 23
Depreciation and amortization 1,100 1,057 992
Net unrealized (gain)/loss on derivative securities and
corresponding hedged risk on CMBS securities — — (21,134)
Net realized loss on sale of fixed assets, investments and
settlement of derivative securities — — 28,715
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for
other-than-temporary impairment 5,886 — —
Provision for/{recapture of) allowance for possible credit losses (6,672) — (4,713)
Tortal other expenses 15,543 14,377 17,879
Income before income taxes 21,525 14,171 5,411
Income tax expense/{benefit) (451) 646 15,149
Net income/(loss) $ 21,976 $13,525 $ (9,738)
Per share information:
Nert earnings/(loss) per share of common stock ‘
Basic $ 217 $ 2.27 $ (1.62)
Diluted $  2.14 $ 2.23 $ (1.62)
Dividends declared per share of common stock $ 1.85 $ 1.80 $ —
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
Basic 10,141,380 5,946,718 6,008,731
Diluted 10,276,886 10,287,721 6,008,731

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands)

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

Class A
Common

Stock

Balance at January 1, 2002

Net loss

Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments, net of related income taxes
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net of related income taxes

Issuance of class A common stock unit awards

Issuance of restricted class A common stock

Restricted class A common stock earned

Vesting of restricted class A common stock to unrestricted class A common stock
Repurchase and retirement of shares of class A common stock previously outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2002

Net income

Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments, net of related income taxes
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net of related income taxes
Issuance of restricted class A common stock

Restricted class A common stock earned

Sale of shares of class A common stock under stock option agreement
Cancellation of restricted class A common stock

Vesting of restricted class A common stock to unrestricted class A common stack
Repurchase and retirement of shares of class A common stock previously outstanding
Repurchase of warrants to purchase shares of class A common stock

Dividends declared on class A common stock

Shares redeemed in one for three reverse stock split

Shares of class A common stock issued in private offering

Balance at December 31, 2003

Net income

Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities

Implementation of SFAS No. 123

[ssuance of restricted class A common stock

Sale of shares of class A common stock under stock option agreement

Vesting of restricted class A common stock to unrestricted class A common stock

Conversion of class A common stock units to class A common stock

Conversion of step up convertible junior subordinated debentures into class A
common stock

Restricted class A common stock earned

Shares of class A common stock issued in public offering

Shares of class A common stock issued in direct public offering

Shares of class A common stock issued upon exercise of warrants

Stock options expensed under SFAS No. 123

Dividends declared on class A common stock

Balance at December 31, 2004

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$ (9,738)
1,715
(794)

$ 61

$ (8817)

$ 13,525
1,990
(6,882)

$ 8,633

$ 21,976
26
37,669

$59,671

$148




Restricted

Accumulated

Class A Additional Other
Common Paid-In Unearned Comprehensive Accumulated

Stock Capital Compensation Income/(Loss) Deficit Total
$1 $ 136,930 $(583) $(29,909) $ (3,872) $ 102,628
— — — — (9,738) (9,738)
— — — 1,715 — 1,715
— — — (794) — (794)
— 313 — — — 313
1 399 (400) — — —
— — 663 — — 663
(0 — — — — —
— (10,723) — — — (10,731)
1 126,919 (320) (28,988) (13,610) 84,056
— — — — 13,525 13,525
— — — 1,990 — 1,990
— — — (6,882) — (6,882)
— 356 (356) — — —_
— — 237 — — 237
— 281 — _ — 281
— (192) 192 —_ — —
1) — — — — —
— (946) — — — (947)
— (2,132) — — — (2,132)
— — — — (11,238) (11,238)
— (8) — — — (8)
— 17,124 — — — 17,135
— 141,402 (247) (33,880) (11,323) 96,017
— — — — 21,976 21,976
— — —_— 26 — 26
— — — 37,669 — 37,669
— (247) 247 — — —
3 (3) — — — —
— 813 — — — 814
— 411 — — — 411
— 90,048 — — — 90,091
— 1,342 — —_ — 1,342
— 41,600 — — — 41,619
— 37,963 — — — 37,979
— 8,537 — — — 8,541
— 71 — — — 71
— — - — (20,059) {20,059)
$3 $321,937 $ — $ 3,815 $ (9,406) $316,497

|
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CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(in thousands)
2004 2003 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income/(loss) $ 21,976 $ 13,525 $ (9,738)
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred income taxes (2,254) (1,784) 8,178
Provision for/(recapture of) provision for possible credit losses (6,672) — (4,713)
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for other-than-temporary impairment 5,886 — —
Depreciation and amortization 1,100 1,057 992
Loss{(income) from equity investments in Funds (2,407) (1,526) 2,534
Net gain on sales of CMBS and available-for-sale securities (300) — (711)
Cash paid on settlement of fair value hedge — — (23,624)
Unrealized loss on hedged and derivative securities —_ — 2,561
Restricted class A common stock earned 1,342 237 663
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on loans and investments, net (1,327) (1,277) (2,365)
Accretion of discount on term redeemable securities contract — — 680
Accretion of discounts and fees on convertible trust preferred securities, net 276 478 1,305
Stock option expense 71 — —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Deposits and other receivables 63 86 761
Accrued interest receivable (806) 3,126 192
Prepaid and other assets 2,482 799 1,347
Deferred origination fees and other revenue (2,371) 2,165 (462)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,521 (1,084) (215)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 19,580 15,802 (22,615)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of available-for-sale securities : — — (39,999)
Principal collections on and proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities 19,561 43,409 131,347
Purchases of CMBS (59,550) (6,157) —_
Principal collections on and proceeds from sale of CMBS 5,048 — 617,880
Crigination and purchase of loans receivable {489,480) (99,600) —
Principal collections on loans receivable 106,422 87,210 136,246
Equity investments in Funds (8,460) (9,931) (5,973)
Return of capital from Funds 10,482 10,758 11,840
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements (119) (26) (5)
Increase in restricted cash (611) — —
Purchase of remaining interest in Fund [ . — (19,947) —
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (416,707) 5,716 301,336
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from repurchase obligarions 189,882 55,672 179,861
Repayment of repurchase obligations (111,685) (68,834) (167,685)
Proceeds from credit facilities 246,852 104,015 118,500
Repayment of credit facilities (220,544) (129,232) (199,711)
Repayment of notes payable — — (977)
Repayment of convertible trust preferred securities — — (60,258)
Proceeds from term redeemable securities contract — 20,000 35816
Repayment of term redeemable securities contract (11,651) (8,349) (173,628)
Proceeds from issuance of collateralized debt obligarions 252,778 — —
Payment of deferred financing costs (6,140) (2,270 (1,373)
Sale of shares of class A common stock under stock option agreement 815 281 —
Dividends paid on class A common stock (15,474) (8,297) —
Proceeds from exercise of warrants for shares of class A common stock 8,541 — —
Repurchase of warrants to purchase shares of class A common stock — (2,132) —
Proceeds from sale of shares of class A common stock 79,598 17,135 —
Repurchase and retirement of shares of common and preferred stock previously outstanding — (955) (10,731)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 412,972 (22,966) (280,186)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,845 (1,448) (1,465)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,738 10,186 11,651
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 24,583 $ 8738 $ 10,186

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




CAPITAL TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

1. Organization

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer ta Capital Trust,
Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically requires
otherwise.

We are a finance and investment management company that
specializes in originating and managing credit sensitive struc-
tured financial products. We will continue to make, for our
own account and as investment manager for the account of
funds under management, loans and debt-related investments
in various types of commercial real estate assets and operating
companies.

On April 2, 2003, our charter was amended and restated and
then further amended to eliminate from our authorized stock
the entire 100,000,000 shares of our authorized but unissued
class B common stock and to effect a one (1) for three (3)
reverse stock split of our class A common stock. Fractional
shares resulting from the reverse stock split were settled in
cash at a rate of $16.65 multiplied by the percentage of a share
owned after the split.

All per share information concerning the computation of
earnings per share, dividends per share, authorized stock, and
per share conversion and exercise prices reported in the
accompanying consolidated interim financial statements and
these notes to consolidated financial statements have been
adjusted as if the amendments to our charter were in effect for
all fiscal periods and as of all balance sheet dates presented.

2. REIT Election

In December 2002, our board of directors authorized our elec-
tion to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT,
beginning with the 2003 tax year. We will continue to make,
for our own account and as investment manager for the
account of funds under management, credit sensitive struc-
tured financial products including loans and debt-related
investments in various types of commercial real estate.

In view of our election to be taxed as a REIT, we have tailored
our balance sheet investment program to originate or acquire
loans and investments to produce a portfolio that meets the
asset and income tests necessary to maintain qualification as a
REIT. In order to accommodate our REIT status, the legal
structure of future investment funds we sponsor may be differ-
ent from the legal structure of our existing investment funds.

In order to qualify as a REIT, five or fewer individuals may own
no more than 50% of our common stock. As a means of facili-
tating compliance with such qualification, shareholders con-
trolled by John R. Klopp and Craig M. Hatkoff and trusts for
the benefit of the family of Samuel Zell each sold 166,666
shares of class A common stock to an institutional investor in
a transaction that closed on February 7, 2003. Following this
transaction, our largest five individual shareholders own in the
aggregate less than 50% of the class A common stock.

3. Application of New Accounting Standard

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities,” an”interpretation of Accounting Research
Bulletin 51. Interpretation No. 46 provides guidance on iden-
tifying entities for which control is achieved through means
other than through voting rights, and how to determine when
and which business enterprise should consolidate a variable
interest entity. In addition, Interpretation No. 46 requires that
both the primary beneficiary and all other enterprises with a
significant variable interest in a variable interest entity make
additional disclosures. The transitional disclosure require-
ments took effect almost immediately and are required for all
financial statemencs initially issued after January 31, 2003. In
December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued a revision of Interpretation No. 46, Interpretation No.
46R, to clarify the provisions of Interpretation No. 46. The
application of Interpretation No. 46R is effective for public
companies, other than small business issuers, after March 15,
2004. We have evaluated all of our investments and other
interests in entities that may be deemed variable interest enti-
ties under the provisions of Interpretation No. 46 and have
concluded that no additional entities need to be consolidated.

In evaluating Interpretation No. 46R, we concluded that we
could no longer consolidate CT Convertible Trust I, the entity
which had purchased our step up convertible junior subordi-
nated debentures and issued company-obligated, mandatory
redeemable, convertible trust common and preferred securi-
ties. Capital Trust, Inc. had issued the convertible junior sub-
ordinated debentures and had purchased the convertible trust
common securities. The consolidation of CT Convertible
Trust I resulted in the elimination of both the convertible jun-
ior subordinated debentures and the convertible trust common
securities with the convertible trust preferred securities being
reported on our balance sheet after liabilities but before equity
and the related expense being reported on the income state-
ment below income taxes and net of income tax benefits.
After the deconsolidation, we report the convertible junior
subordinated debentures as liabilities and the convertible trust
common securities as other assets. The expense from the pay-
ment of interest on the debentures is reported as interest and
related expenses on convertible junior subordinated deben-
trures and the income received from our investment in the
common securities is reported as a component of interest and
related income. We have elected to restate prior periods for
the application of Interpretation 46R. The restatement was
effected by a cumulative type change in accounting principle
on January 1, 2002. There was no change to previously
reported net income as a result of such restatement.
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4. Venture with Citigroup Alternative Investments LLC

On March 8, 2000, we entered into a venture with affiliates of
Citigroup Alternative Investments LLC pursuant to which
they agreed, among other things, to co-sponsor and invest
capital in a series of commercial real estate mezzanine invest-
ment funds managed by us with certain investment criteria.
Pursuant to the venture agreement, which was amended
in 2003, we have co-sponsored three funds; CT Mezzanine
Partners [ LLC, CT Mezzanine Partners II LP and CT
Mezzanine Partners 111, Inc., which we refer to as Fund 1, Fund
1l and Fund 11, respectively. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, CT
Investment Management Co., LLC, serves as the exclusive
investment manager to Fund [, Fund Il and Fund IIL.

Fund I was formed in March 2000. An affiliate of Citigroup
Alternative Investments and our wholly-owned subsidiary, as
members thereof, made capital commitments of up to $150 mil-
tion and $50 million, respectively. During its investment period,
Fund I made approximately $330 million of investments. In
January 2003, we purchased the 75% interest in Fund [ held by
an affiliate of Citigroup Alternative Investments for a purchase
price of approximately $38.4 million (including the assumption
of liabilities}, equal to the book value of the fund. On January
31, 2003, we began consolidating the balance sheet and opera-
tions of Fund I in our consolidated financial statements.

Fund II was formed in April 2001. Fund [I effected its final clos-
ing on third-party investor equity commitments in August
2001. Fund II had total equity commitments of $845.2 million
including $49.7 million made by us and $198.9 million made
by affiliates of Citigroup Alternative Investments. Third-party
private equity investors made the remaining equity commit-
ments. During its investment period (April 9, 2001 to April 9,
2003), Fund Il made approximately $1.2 billion of investments.

Fund Il was formed in June 2003. Fund III effected its final
closing on third-party investor equity commitments in August
2003. Fund 11I has total equity commitments of $425 million
including $20 million made by us and $80 million made by
affiliates of Citigroup Alternative Investments. Third-party
private equity investors made the remaining equity commit-
ments. Through Deé¢ember 31, 2004, Fund III made approxi-
mately $800 million of investments.

In connection with entering into the venture agreement and
formation of Fund 1 and Fund II, we issued to affiliates of
Citigroup Alternative Investments warrants to purchase
2,842,822 shares of our class A common stock. The warrants
had a $15.00 per share exercise price and were exercisable
until expiration on March 10, 2005. We capitalized the value
of the warrants at issuance and they are being amortized over
the anticipated lives of the Funds. In January 2003, we pur-
chased all of the outstanding warrants for $2.1 million. We had
no further obligations to issue additional warrants to Citigroup
at December 31, 2004.

5. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

Qur consolidated financial statements include our accounts and
the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, CT Investment
Management Co. (as described in Note 3), CT-F1, LLC (direct
member and equity owner of Fund I}, CT Mezzanine Partners |
LLC, CT-F2-LE, LLC (limited partner of Fund 1I), CT-F2-GP,
LLC (direct member and equity owner of Fund Il GP), CT-BB
Funding Corp. (finance subsidiary for three mezzanine loans),
CT LF Funding Corp. (finance subsidiary for all of our CMBS
securities), Capital Trust RE CDO 2004-1 LTD (issuer of float-
ing rate CDO securities), CT RE CDO 2004-1 Sub LLC (pur-
chaser of unrated and non-investment grade securities of CDO)
and VIC, Inc., which together with us wholly owns Victor
Capital Group, L.P. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been elimninated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income for our loans and investments is recognized
over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method and recognized on the accrual basis.

Fees received in connection with loan commitments, net of
direct expenses, are deferred until the loan is advanced and are
then recognized over the term of the loan as an adjustment to
vield. Fees on commitments that expire unused are recognized
at expiration. Exit fees are also recognized over the estimated
term of the loan as an adjustment to yield. Purchased dis-
counts for credit quality are amortized over the estimated term
of the loan as an adjustment to yields. Cash flows received in
excess of original estimates are recognized prospectively as an
adjustment to yield.

Income recognition is generally suspended for loans at the
earlier of the date at which payments become 90 days past due
or when, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of
income and principal becomes doubtful. Income recognition is
resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and
performance is demonstrated to be resumed.

Fees from investment management services and special servic-
ing are recognized when eamed on an accrual basis. Fees from
professional advisory services are generally recognized at the
point at which all of our services have been performed and no
significant contingencies exist with respect to entitlement to
payment. Fees from asset management services are recognized
as services are rendered.

We account for incentive fees we can potentially earn from the
Funds in accordance with Method 1 of Emerging Issues Task
Force Topic D-96. Under Method 1, no incentive income is
recorded until all contingencies have been eliminated.
Method 1 is the preferred method as it eliminates the potential
that revenue will be recognized in one quarter and reversed in
a future quarter. Incentive income received prior to that date is




recorded as unearned income (a liability). No incentive fees
have been earned at December 31, 2004 and as such, no
amount of such potential fees has been accrued as income in
our financial statements. The amount of incentive fees to be
received in the future will depend upon a number of factors,
including the level of interest rates and the fund’s ability to
generate returns in excess of 10%, which is in turn impacted
by the duration and ultimate performance of the fund’s assets.
Potential incentive fees received as Fund II winds down could
result in significant additional income from operations in cer-
tain periods during which such payments can be recorded as
income. If Fund 1I's assets were sold and liabilities were settled
on January 1, 2005 at the recorded book value, and the fund’s
equity and income were distributed, we would record approxi-
mately $9.5 million of gross incentive fees.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We classify highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less from the date of purchase as cash
equivalents. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, a majority of
the cash and cash equivalents consisted of overnight invest-
ments in commercial paper. We had no bank balances in
excess of federally insured amounts at December 31, 2004 and
2003. We have not experienced any losses on our demand
deposits, commercial paper or money market investments.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is $611,000 on deposit with the trustee for
CDO-1, representing the proceeds of loan repayments which
will be used to purchase replacement loans (either from third
parties or us) as collateral for the CDO.

Awailable-for-Sale Securities and Commercial
Mortgage-Backed Securities (or CMBS)

We have designated our investments in commercial mortgage-
backed securities and certain other securities as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimared fair
value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a com-
ponent of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in
shareholders’ equity. Many of these investments are relatively
illiquid and management must estimate their values. In mak-
ing these estimates, management utilizes market prices pro-
vided by dealers who make markets in these securities, but
may, under certain circumstances, adjust these valuations
based on management’s judgment. Changes in the valuations
do nor affect our reported income or cash flows, but impact
shareholders' equity and, accordingly, book value per share.

We account for CMBS under Emerging Issues Task Force 99-20,
“Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Rerained Beneficial Interests in Securitized
Financial Assets.” Under Emerging Issues Task Force 99-20,
. when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the

cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepay-
ment and credit loss experience and the present value of the
revised cash flows using the current expected yield is less than
the present value of the previously estimated remaining cash
flows, adjusted for cash receipts during the intervening period,
an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have
occurred. Accordingly, the security is written down to fair
value with the resulting change being included in income and
a new cost basis established with the original discount or pre-
mium wricten off when the new cost basis is established. In
accordance with this guidance, on a quarterly basis, when sig-
nificant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows
previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and
credit loss experience, we calculate a revised yield based on the
current amortized cost of the investment, including any other-
than-temporary impairments recognized to date, and the
revised cash flows. The revised yield is then applied prospec-
tively to recognize interest income.

Management must also assess whether unrealized losses on
securities reflect a decline in value that is other than tempo-
rary, and, accordingly, write the impaired security down to its
fair value, through a charge to earnings. We have assessed our
securities to first determine whether there is an indication of
possible other-than-temporary impairment and then where an
indication exists to determine if other-than-temporary impait-
ment did in fact exist. During the fourth quarter of 2004, we
concluded that two of our CMBS investments had incurred
other-than-temporary impairment and we incurred a charge of
$5.9 million through the income statement. With respect to
the remaining securities, we believe there has not been any
adverse change in cash flows since inception, therefore we did
not recognize any other-than-temporary impairment on the
remaining CMBS investments. Significant judgment of man-
agement is required in this analysis that includes, but is not
limited to, making assumptions regarding the collectibility of
the principal and interest, net of related expenses, on the
underlying loans.

Income on these available-for-sale securities is recognized
based upon a number of assumptions that are subject to uncer-
tainties and contingencies. Examples of these include, among
other things, the rate and timing of principal payments,
including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations,
the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations.
Additional factors that may affect our reported interest income
on our mortgage-backed securities include interest payment
shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage
loans and the timing and magnitude of credit losses on the
mortgage loans underlying the securities that are a result of
the general condition of the real estate market, including com-
petition for tenants and their related credit quality, and
changes in market rental rates. These uncertainties and con-
tingencies are difficult ro predict and are subject to future
events that may alter the assumptions.

CaPITAL TRUST
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(continued)

Loans Receivable and Reserve for Possible Credit Losses

We purchase and originate commercial mortgage and mezza-
nine loans to be held as long-term investments at amortized
cost. Management must periodically evaluate each of these
loans for possible impairment. Impairment is indicated when it
is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan. If
a loan were determined to be permanently impaired, we would
write down the loan through a charge to the reserve for possible
credit losses. Given the nature of our loan portfolio and the
underlying commercial real estate collateral, significant judg-
ment of management is required in determining permanent
impairment and the resulting charge to the reserve, which
includes but s not limited to making assumptions regarding the
value of the real estate that secures the mortgage loan.

Our accounting policies require that an allowance for esti-
mated credit losses be reflected in our financial statements
based upon an evaluation of known and inherent risks in our
mortgage and mezzanine loans. Quarterly, management reeval-
uates the reserve for possible credit losses based upon our cur-
rent portfolio of loans. Each loan in our portfolio is evaluated
using our loan risk rating system which considers loan to
value, debt yield, cash flow stability, exit plan, loans sponsor-
ship, the loan structure and any other factors necessary to
assess the loans likelihood of delinquency or default. If we
believe that there is a potential for delinquency or default, a
downside analysis is prepared to estimate the value of the col-
lateral underlying our loan, and this potential loss is multiplied
by the default likelihood. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately
differ from these estimates.

Equity Investments in Fund I, Fund II, CT MP II LLC
(which we refer to as Fund II GP) and Fund 111
{which together we refer to as Funds)

As the Funds are not majority owned or controlled by us, we
do not consolidate the Funds in our consolidated financial
statements. We account for our interest in the Funds on the
equity method of accounting. As such, we report a percentage
of the earnings of the Funds equal to our ownership percentage
on a single line item in the consolidated statement of opera-
tions as income from equity investments in the Funds.

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net

Equipment and leasehold improvements, net, are stated at
original cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based
on the estimated lives of the depreciable assets. Amortization
is computed over the remaining terms of the related leases.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged directly
to expense at the time incurred. Expenditures determined to
represent additions and betterments are capitalized. Cost of
assets sold or retired and the related amounts of accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts in the year of
sale or retirement. Any resulting profit or loss is reflected in
the consolidated statement of operations.

Deferved Financing Costs

The deferred financing costs which are included in other
assets on our consolidated balance sheets include issuance
costs related to our debt and are amortized using the straight-
line method which is similar to the results of the effective
interest method.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we use a variety of derivative
financial instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risk.
These derivative financial instruments must be effective in
reducing its interest rate risk exposure in order to qualify for
hedge accounting. When the terms of an underlying transac-
tion are modified, or when the underlying hedged item ceases
to exist, all changes in the fair value of the instrument are
marked-to-market with changes in value included in net
income each period until the derivarive instrument matures or
is settled. Any derivative instrument used for risk management
that does not meet the hedging criteria is marked-to-market
with the changes in value included in net income.

We use interest rate swaps to effectively convert variable rate
debt to fixed rate debt for the financed portion of fixed rate
assets. The differential to be paid or received on these agree-
ments is recognized as an adjustment to the interest expense
related to debt and is recognized on the accrual basis.

We have also used interest rate caps to reduce our exposure to
interest rate changes on investments. We would have received
payments on an interest rate cap if the variable rate for which
the cap was purchased exceed a specified threshold level and
would have recorded an adjustment to the interest income
related to the related earning asset. We had no interest rate
caps in place at December 31, 2004.

To determine the fair values of derivative instruments, we use
a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market
conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date. For
the majority of financial instruments including most deriva-
tives, long-term investments and long-term debt, standard
market conventions and techniques such as discounted cash
flow analysis, option pricing models, replacement cost, and
termination cost are used to determine fair value. All methods
of assessing fair value result in a general approximation of
value, and such value may never actually be realized.




The swap and cap agreements are generally held-to-marurity
and we do not use derivative financial instruments for trad-
ing purposes.

Income Taxes

Our financial results generally do not reflect provisions for cur-
rent or deferred income taxes on our REIT taxable income.
Management believes that we have and intend to continue o
operate in a manner that will continue to allow us to be taxed
as a REIT and, as a result, do not expect to pay substantial cor-
porate-level taxes (other than taxes payable by our taxable
REIT subsidiaries). Many of these requirements, however, are
highly technical and complex. If we were to fail to meet these
requirements, we would be subject to Federal income tax.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We comply with the provisions of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s Statement of Financial Accounting Stand-
ards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 encour-
ages the adoption of a fair-value based accounting method for
employee stock-based compensation plans, but also permits
companies to continue accqunting for stock-based compensa-
tion plans as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25. However, companies electing to continue accounting
for stock-based compensation plans under Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25 must make pro forma disclosures as if
they adopted the cost recognition requirements of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123.

Through December 31, 2003, we continued to account for
stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
for awards under our stock plans in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations as the exercise price of the
stock options granted thereunder equaled the market price of
the underlying stock on the date of the grant. During the
fourth quarter of 2004, we elected to adopt the fair value
recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 using the modified prospective method pro-
vided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition
and Disclosure.” Under the modified prospective method, we
recognized stock-based employee compensation costs based

upon the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 effective January 1,
2004. Compensation expense is recognized on the accelerated
ateribution method under Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 28.

Pro forma information regarding net income and net earnings
per share of common stock has been estimated at the date of
the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based
on the following assumptions for the year ended December 31,
2002 (no options were granted during the vears ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003):

Risk-free interest rate 4.30%
Volatility 25.0%
Dividend yield 0.0%
Expected life (years) 5.0

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for
use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
Because our employee stock options have characteristics sig-
nificantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate, in our opinion, the existing mod-
els do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the
fair value of our employee stock options. The weighted average
fair value of each stock option granted during the year ended

December 31, 2002 was $1.64.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value

of the options is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting

period. Qur pro forma information for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows (in thousands,
except for net earnings (loss) per share of common stock):

2003 2002

As Pro As Pro

Reported  Forma  Reported Forma

Net income $13,525 $13,280 $(9,738)  $(10,038)
Net earnings per share
of common stock:

Basic $ 227 § 2.23 $ (0.54) $ (0.56)

Diluted $ 223 $ 221 $ (054) 3 (0.56)
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Comprehensive Income

Effective January 1, 1998, we adopted the FASB's Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income” (“SFAS No. 130”). The statement
changes the reporting of certain items currently reported in the
shareholders' equity section of the balance sheet and establishes
standards for reporting of comprehensive income and its compo-
nents in a full set of general-purpose financial statements. Total
comprehensive income/(loss) was $59,671,000, $8,633,000
and ($8,817,000) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The primary component of comprehen-
sive income other than net income was the unrealized
gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments and available-
for-sale securities, net of related income taxes for 2002. At
December 31, 2004, accumulated other comprehensive income
is $3,815,000 comprised of unrealized gains on CMBS of
$3,621,000 and unrealized gains on cash flow swaps of $194,000.

Earnings per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock are presented based on
the requirements of the FASB’s Statement of Accounting
Standards No. 128 (“SFAS No. 128”). Basic EPS is computed
based on the income applicable to common stock (which is
net income or loss reduced by the dividends on the preferred
stock) divided by weighted average number of shares of com-
mon stock outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is based
on the net earnings applicable to common stock plus, if dilu-
tive, interest paid on convertible trust preferred securities, net
of tax benefit, divided by weighted average number of shares of
common stock and potentially dilutive shares of common
stock that were outstanding during the period. At December
31, 2004, potentially dilutive shares of common stock include
dilutive common stock options. At December 31, 2004 and
2003, potentially dilutive shares of common stock include
convertible trust preferred securities and dilutive common
stock options. At December 31, 2002, potentially dilutive
shares of common stock include convertible trust preferred
securities, dilutive common stock warrants and options and
future commitments for stock unit awards.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the con-
solidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the presentation
of the 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements to
conform to the 2004 presentation.

Segment Reporting

We established two reportable segments beginning January 1,
2003. We have an internal information system that pro-
duces performance and asset data for its two segments along
service lines.

The Balance Sheet Investment segment includes all of our activ-
ities related to direct loan and investment activities (including
direct.investments in Funds) and the financing thereof.

The Investment Management segment includes all of our
activities related to investment management services provided
to us and third-party funds under management and includes
our taxable REIT subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co.,
LLC and its subsidiaries.

Prior to January 1, 2003, we managed our operations as one seg-
ment, therefore separate segment reporting is not presented for
2002, as the financial information for that segment is the same
as the information in the consolidated financial statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which is a revision of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R) requires all share-based pay-
ments to employees, including grants of employee stock
optiorns, to be valued at fair value on the date of grant, and to
be expensed over the applicable vesting period. Pro forma dis-
closure of the income statement effects of share-based pay-
ments i3 no longer an alternative. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R) is effective for all stock-
based awards granted on or after July 1, 2005. In addition, com-
panies must also recognize compensation expense related to
any awards that are not fully vested as of the effective date.
Compensation expense for the unvested awards will be meas-
ured based on the fair value of the awards previously calculated
in developing the pro forma disclosures in accordance with the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123. As we have adopted Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards No. 123 effective January 1, 2004, we do not
believe that adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R) will have a material impact on our future
financial results.




6. Available-for-Sale Securities

At December 31, 2003, our available-for-sale securities con-
sisted of the following (in thousands):
Gross

Estimated
Amortized M Fair
Cost  Gains  Losses Value
Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation Gold, fixed
rate interest at 6.50%,
due September 1, 2031 $ 2368 % 89 $— % 2457
Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation Gold, fixed
rate interest at 6.50%,
due Seprember 1, 2031

8418 260  — 8680

Federal Home Loan Mortgage o

Corporation Gold, fixed

rate interest at 6.50%, ’

due September 1, 2031 721 28 — ’/'749
Federal Home Loan Mortgage o

Corporation Gold, fixed

rate interest at 6.50%,

due April 1, 2032 7,784 375 —

$19,291  §761  $—

8,159
$20,052

On June 14, 2004, we sold our entire portfolio of available-for-
sale securities for a gain of $300,000 over their amortized cost.

7. Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities

We acquire rated and unrated subordinated investments in
-public and private CMBS issues.

Because of a decision to sell a held-to-maturity security in
1998, we transferred all of our investments in commercial
mortgage-backed securities from held-to-maturity securities to
available-for-sale and continue to classify the CMBS as such.

On March 3, 1999, through our then newly formed wholly-
owned subsidiary, CT-BB Funding Corp., we acquired a portfo-
lio of fixed rate “BB"” rated CMBS from an affiliate of a then
existing credit facility lender. The portfolio, which is comprised
of 11 separate issues with an aggregate face amount of $246.0
million, was purchased for $196.9 million. In connection with
the transaction, an affiliate of the seller provided three-year
term financing for 70% of the purchase price at a floating rate
above the London Interbank Offered Rarte, or LIBOR, and
entered into an interest rate swap for the full duration of the
portfolio securities thereby providing a hedge for interest rate
risk. The financing was provided at a rate that was below the
current market for similar financings and, as such, we reduced
the carrying amounts of the assets and the debt by $10.9 million
to adjust the yield on the debt to current market terms. In June
2002, three sales of CMBS in two issues were completed. The
securities, which were specifically identified and had a basis of
$31,012,000 including amortization of discounts, were sold for

$31,371,000 resulting in a net gain of $359,000.

e EEEEEEEEEE————— ]

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we purchased
$6,542,000 face amount of interests in two CMBS issues for
$6,157,000. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we
purchased four investments in three separate issues of commer-
cial mortgage-backed securities. The securities had a face value
of $61,293,000 and were purchased at a discount for
$59,551,000. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we
received full satisfaction of one of the issues purchased in 2003
for $5,000,000 and received amortization payments of $48,000
on one of the issues purchased in 2004.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we concluded that two
of our CMBS investments with face amounts totaling $11.7
million had incurred other-than-temporary impairment due to
changes in the expected cash flows and recorded a charge of
$5.9 million through the income statement to record these
two investments at the current market value. QOur estimares of
recoverability indicate that we will not recover $1.8 million
of the face value on one of the securities written down and
expect full collection of the face value on the other security.
We expect a full recovery from our other securities and did
not recognize any other-than-temporary impairment on the
remaining CMBS investments.

- At December 31, 2004, four CMBS issues with an aggregate

market value of $35.5 million and unrealized losses of $10.7
million have been in an unrealized loss position for greater than
twelve months. One additional security with a market value of
$29.2 million and unrealized losses of $70,000 have been in a
loss position for less than twelve months. We believe that these
market value losses are temporary. We do not expect any actual
losses in the classes of the bonds that we hold and expect the
value of the individual bonds will increase as currently delin-
quent loans are resolved and the bonds approach maturity.

At December 31, 2004, we held nineteen investments in four-
teen separate issues of commercial mortgage-backed securities
with an aggregate face value of $271,757,000. Commercial
mortgage-backed securities with a face value of $61,245,000
earn interest at a variable rate, which averages the London
Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus 2.28% (4.67% at
December 31, 2004). The remaining commercial mortgage-
backed securities, $210,512,000 face value, earn interest at
fixed rates averaging 7.65% of the face value. We purchased all
of the commercial mortgage-backed securities at discounts. As
of December 31, 2004, the remaining discount to be amortized
into income over the remaining lives of the securities was
$22,338,000. At December 31, 2004, with discount amortiza-
tion, the commercial mortgage-backed securities earn interest
at a blended rate of 8.58% of the fair value net of the unamor-
tized discount. As of December 31, 2004, the securities were
carried at fair value of $247,765,000, reflecting a $3,621,000
unrealized gain to their amortized cost. The CMBS mature at
various dates from October 2005 to September 2015. At
December 31, 2004, the expected average life for the CMBS
portfolio is 75 months.
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8. Loans Receivable

We have classified our loans receivable into the following gen-
eral categories:

¢ First Mortgage Loans—These are single-property secured
loans evidenced by a primary first mortgage and senior to
any mezzanine financing and the owner’s equity. These
loans are bridge loans for equity holders who require interim
financing until permanent financing can be obtained. Our
first mortgage loans are generally not intended to be perma-
nent in nature, but rather are intended to be of a relatively
short-term duration, with extension options as deemed
appropriate, and typically require a balloon payment of
principal at maturity. We may also originate and fund per-
manent first mortgage loans in which we intend to sell the
senior tranche, thereby crearing a property mezzanine loan

(as defined below).

* Property Mezzanine Loans—These are single-property
secured loans which are subordinate to a primary first mort-
gage loan, but senior to the owner’s equity. A mezzanine
loan is evidenced by its own promissory note and is typically
made to the owner of the property-owning entity (i.e., the
senior loan borrower). It is not secured by the first mortgage
on the property, but by a pledge of all of the mezzanine bor-
rower’s ownership interest in the property-owning entity.
Subject to negotiated contractual restrictions, the mezza-
nine lender has the right, following foreclosure, to become
the sole indirect owner of the property subject to the lien of
the primary mortgage.

* B Notes—These are loans evidenced by a junior participa-
tion in a first mortgage against a single property; the senior
participation is known as an A Note. Although a B Note
may be evidenced by its own promissory note, it shares a
single borrower and mortgage with the A Note and is
secured by the same collateral. B Note lenders have the
same obligations, collateral and borrower as the A Note
lender and in most instances are contractually limited in
rights and remedies in the case of a default. The B Note is
subordinate to the A Note by virtue of a contractual
arrangement between the A Note lender and the B Note
lender. For the B Note lender to actively pursue a full range
of remedies, it must, in most instances, purchase the
A Note.

* Corporate Mezzanine Loans—These are investments in or
loans to real estate-related operating companies, including
REITs. Such loan investments take the form of secured debt
and may finance, among other things, operations, mergers
and acquisitions, management buy-outs, recapitalizations,
start-ups and stock buy-backs generally involving real estate
and real estate-related entities.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our loans receivable con-
sisted of the following (in thousands):

2004 2003

First mortgage loans $ 3,038 $ 12,672
Property mezzanine loans 159,506° 106,449
B Notes 393,620 64,600
556,164 183,721
Less: reserve for possible credit losses _ (6,672)
Total loans $556,164  $177,049

In connection with our purchase of the Fund [ interest held by
an affiliate of Citigroup Alternative Investments in January
2003, we recorded additional loans receivable of $50,034,000
and recorded a $1,690,000 increase to the reserve for possible
credit losses on the acquisition date. The assets were recorded
at their carrying value from Fund I, which approximated the
market value on the acquisition date.

One first mortgage loan with an original principal balance of
$8,000,000 reached maturity on July 15, 2002 and has not
been repaid with respect to principal and interest. In
December 2002, the loan was written down to $4,000,000
through a charge to the allowance for possible credit losses.
During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we
received proceeds of $231,000 and $731,000, respectively,
reducing the carrying value of the loan to $3,038,000. In
accordance with our policy for revenue recognition, income
recognition has been suspended on this loan and for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, $930,000,
$912,000 and $958,000, respectively, of potential interest
income has not been recorded.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we purchased or
originated six property mezzanine loans for $77,282,000 and
63 B Notes for $412,420,000, received partial repayments on
34 loans totaling $18,215,000 and one mortgage loan, three
property mezzanine loan and twelve B Notes totaling
$98,207,000 were satisfied and repaid. We have no outstand-
ing loan commitments at December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2004, the weighted average interest rate in
effect, including amortization of fees and premiums, for our
performing loans receivable were as follows:

Property mezzanine loans 9.22%
B Notes 7.05%
Total Loans 7.68%

At December 31, 2004, $472,397,000 (85%) of the aforemen-
tioned performing loans bear interest at floating rates ranging
from LIBOR plus 300 basis points to LIBOR plus 900 basis
points. The remaining $80,729,000 (15%) of loans bear inter-
est at fixed rates ranging from 8.12% to 11.67%.




The range of maturity dates and weighted average maturity
at December 31, 2004 of our performing loans receivable was
as follows:

Weighted
Average

Range of Maturity Dates Maturity

Property mezzanine

loans January 2006 to September 2011
B Notes April 2005 to August 2008
Total Loans April 2005 to September 2011

42 Months
17 Months
24 Months

There are no loans to a single borrower or to related groups
of borrowers that exceed ten percent of total assets.
Approximately 14% and 12% of all performing loans are
secured by properties in New York and Florida, respectively.
Approximately 30% of all performing loans are secured by
office buildings and approximately 27% are secured by hotels.
These credit concentrations are adequately collateralized as of

December 31, 2004.

In connection with the aforementioned loans, at December
31, 2004 and 2003, we have deferred origination fees, net of
direct costs of $541,000 and $828,000, respectively, which are
being amortized into income over the life of the loan. At
December 31, 2004 and 2003, we have recorded $99,000 and
$86,000, respectively, of exit fees, which will be collected at
the loan pay-off. These fees are recorded as interest income on
a basis to realize a level yield over the life of the loans.

As of December 31, 2004, performing loans totaling
$481,199,000 are pledged as collateral for borrowings on our
credit facility, repurchase agreements and term redeemable
securities contract.

Quarterly, management reevaluates the reserve for possible
credit losses based upon our current portfolio of loans. Each
loan in our portfolic is evaluated using our loan risk rating sys-
temn which considers loan to value, debt yield, cash flow stabil-
ity, exit plan, loans sponsorship, the loan structure and any
other factors necessary to assess the likelihood of delinquency
or default. If we believe that there is a potential for delin-
quency or default, a downside analysis is prepared to estimate
the value of the collateral underlying our loan, and this poten-
tial loss is multiplied by the default likelihood. A detailed
review of the entire portfolio was completed at December 31,
2004 and certain loans that we previously had specific con-
cerns about were either repaid or the conditions which caused
the concern were eliminated. Based upon the changes in con-
ditions of these loans and the evaluations completed on the
remainder of the portfolio, we concluded that a reserve for
possible credit losses was no longer warranted and the reserve

was recaptured. The activity on the reserve for possible credit
losses on loans receivable was as follows for the years ended

December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
$6,672  $4,982  $13,695

Beginning balance

Provision for (recapture of)
allowance for possible
credit losses

Additional reserve established
with Fund [ purchase — 1,690 —_

Amounts charged against reserve
for possible credit losses — —

$6,672

(6,672) — (4,713)

(4,000)
$ 4,982

Ending balance L —

9. Equity Investment in Funds
Fund 1

As part of the venture with Citigroup Alternative Investments,
as described in Note 3, we held an equity investment in Fund
I during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The
activity for our equity investment in Fund I for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 was as follows {in thousands):

2003 1002

Beginning balance $6,609 $21,087
Capital contributions to Fund | — —
Company portion of Fund |

income/{loss) 143 (4,345)
Distributions from Fund | — (10,133)
Purchase of remaining fund equity (6,752) _

Ending balance $ — § 6,609

As of December 31, 2002, Fund I had loans outstanding total-
ing $50,237,000, all of which were performing in accordance
with the terms of the loan agreements. One loan for $26.0
million, which was in default and for which the accrual of
interest had been suspended, was written down to $212,000
and distributed pro-rata to the members in December 2002.
Upon receipt of our share of the loan with a face amount of

$6,500,000, we disposed of the asset.

On January 31, 2003, we purchased from an affiliate of
Citigroup Alternative Investments its 75% interest in Fund 1
for $38.4 million (including the assumption of liabilities). As
of January 31, 2003, we began consolidating the operations of
Fund ! in our consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we received
$17,000 and $530,000, respectively, of fees for management of
Fund L.
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Fund 11

We had equity investments in Fund 1I during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. We account for Fund II
on the equity method of accounting as we have a 50% owner-
ship interest in the general partner of Fund II. The activity for
our equity investment in Fund I1 for the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Beginning balance $9,209 $12277 $ 7024
Capital contributions to Fund {1 — 5,439 5,150
Company portion of Fund ]I income 1,975 2,144 1,810
Distributions from Fund 11 (8,125) (10,671) (1,707)
Ending balance $3,059 % 9,209 $12,277

As of December 31, 2004, Fund II has loans and investments
ourstanding totaling $131,912,000, all of which are performing
in accordance with the terms of the loan agreements.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we
received $1,815,000, $3,904,000 and $8,089,000, respectively,
of fees for management of Fund 1L

Fund II GP

Fund II GP serves as the general partner for Fund 1. Fund 11
GP is owned 50% by us and 50% by Citigroup.

We had equity investments in Fund 1l GP during the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. The activity for our
equity investment in Fund 1T GP was as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Beginning balance $3,470 $3,499 $2,675

Capirtal contributions to Fund It GP — 757 823
Company portion of Fund Il GP

income/{loss) (339) (786) 1

Distributions from Fund 11 GP (700) — —

Ending balance $2,431 $3,470 $3,499

In addition, we earned $600,000 and $1,505,000 of consulting
fees from Fund II GP during the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2002, we had
receivables of $380,000 from Fund II GP, which is included in
prepaid and other assets.

In accordance with the limited partnership agreement of Fund
11, Fund 11 GP may earn incentive compensation when certain
returns are achieved for the limited partners of Fund I, which
will be accrued if and when earned.

Fund H1

On June 2, 2003, Fund III, our third commercial real estate
mezzanine investment fund co-sponsored with affiliates of
Cirigroup Alternative Investments, effected its initial closing.
Fund Il commenced its investment operations immediately
following the initial closing and on June 27, 2003, July 17,
2003 and August 8, 2003, respectively, Fund III effected its
second, third and final closings resulting in total equity com-
mitments in Fund III of $425.0 million. The equity commit-
ments made to Fund Il by us and affiliates of Citigroup
Alternative Investments are $20.0 million and $80.0 million,
respectively.

The activity for our equity investment in Fund Il was as fol-
lows (in thousands):

2004 2003

Beginning balance $ 3,563 $ —
Capital invested 8,460 2,800
Costs capitalized — 914
Company portion of Fund 11l income 772 25
Amortization of capitalized costs (153) (88)
Distributions received from Fund 111 (1,657) (88)
Ending balance $10,985 $3,563

As of December 31, 2004, Fund III has loans and investments
outstanding totaling $602,386,000, all of which are performing
in accordance with the terms of the loan agreements.

Based upon the $425.0 million aggregate equity commitments
made at the initial and subsequent closings, during the invest-
ment period of Fund 111, we will earn annual investment man-
agement fees of $6.0 million through the service of our
subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co., as investment
manager to Fund IIl. During the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003, we received $6,038,000 and $3,500,000,
respectively, of fees for management of Fund III.

Investment Costs Capitalized

In connection with entering into the venture agreement and
related fund business, we capitalized certain costs, including
the cost of warrants issued and legal costs incurred in negotiat-
ing and concluding the venture agreement with Citigroup
Alternative Investments. These costs are being amortized over
the expected life of the fund business and related venture
agreement {10 years). The activity for these investment costs
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as
follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Beginning balance $5,745 $6,589 $7,443
Costs capitalized — — —
Amortization of capitalized costs (844) (844) (854)
Ending balance $4,901 35,745 $6,589




10. Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, equipment and leasehold
improvements, net, are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Period of
Depreciation or
Amortization 2004 2003

Office and computer equipment 1 to 3 years $ 671 $ 566
Furniture and fixtures 5 years 159 146
Leasehold improvements Term of leases 389 388
1,219 1,100
Less: accumulated depreciation (912) (808)
$ 307 § 192

Depreciation and amortization expense on equipment and
leasehold improvements, which are computed on a straight-
line basis, totaled $104,000, $124,000 and $138,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Equipment and leasehold improvements are included at their
depreciated cost in prepaid and other assets in the consoli-
dated balance sheets.

11. Long-Term Debt
Credit Facility

Effective June 27, 2003, we entered into a credit agreement
with a commercial lender who has been providing credit to us
since June 8, 1998. The $150 million credit facility matures
July 16, 2005 and has an automatic nine month amortizing
extension option, if not otherwise extended. We incurred an
initial commitment fee of $1,425,000 upon the signing of this
new agreement which is being amortized over the term of the
agreement.

The credit facility provides for advances to fund lender-
approved loans and investments made by us, which we refer to
as “funded portfolio assets.” Qur obligations under the credit
facility are secured by pledges of the funded portfolio assets
acquired with advances under the credit facilicy.

Borrowings under the credit facilicy bears interest at specified
rates over LIBOR, which rates may fluctuate, based upon the
credit quality of the funded portfolio assets. This facility is also
subject to a minimum usage fee if average borrowings for a
quarter are less than a threshold amount. The credit facility
provides for margin calls on asset-specific borrowings in the
event of asset quality and/or market value deterioration as
determined under the credit facility. The credit facility con-
rains customary representations and warranties, covenants and
conditions and events of default. The credit facility also con-
tains a covenant obligating us to avoid undergoing an owner-
ship change that results in John R. Klopp or Samuel Zell no
longer retaining their senior offices and directorships with us

and practical control of our business and operations.

At December 31, 2004, we have borrowed $65,176,000 under
the credit facility at an average interest rate of LIBOR plus
1.74% (4.02% at December 31, 2004). On December 31,
2004, the unused amount of potential credit under the remain-
ing credit facility was $84,824,000. Assuming no additional
utilization under the credit facility and including the amortiza-
tion of fees paid and capitalized over the term of the credir
facility, the all-in effective borrowing cost was 5.37% at
December 31, 2004. We have pledged assets of $107,384,000

as collateral for the borrowing against such credit facility.

Term Redeemable Securities Contract

In connection with the purchase of our BB CMBS portfolio as
previously described in Note 6, an affiliate of the seller pro-
vided financing for 70% of the purchase price, or $137.8 mil-
lion, ar a floaring rate of LIBOR plus 50 basis points pursuant
to a term redeemable securities contract. This rate was below
the market rate for similar financings, and, as such, a discount
on the term redeemable securities contract was recorded to
reduce the carrying amount by $10.9 million, which had the
effect of adjusting the yield to current markert terms. The debt
had a three-year term that expired in February 2002.

On February 28, 2002, we entered into a new term redeemable
securities contract. This term redeemable securities contract
was utilized to finance certain of the assets that were previ-
ously financed with a maturing credit facility and term
redeemable securities contract. The term redeemable securities
contract, which allowed for a maximum financing of $75 mil-
lion, was recourse to us and had a two-year term with an auto-
matic one-year amortizing extension option, if not otherwise
extended. We incurred an initial commitment fee of $750,000
upon the signing of the term redeemable securities contract
and we paid interest at specified rates over LIBOR. This term
redeemable securities contract expired on February 28, 2004
and was repaid with the financed assets being financed under
the credit facility.

Repurchase Obligations

At December 31, 2004, we were obligated to three counterpar-
ties under repurchase agreements.

The repurchase obligation with the first counterparty, an affil-
iate of a securities dealer, was utilized to finance commercial
mortgage-backed securities. At December 31, 2004, we have
sold commercial mortgage-backed securities with a book and
market value of $245,993,000 and have a liability to repur-
chase these assets for $152,435,000 that is non-recourse to us.
At December 31, 2003, we sold commercial mortgage-backed
securities assets with a book and market value of $151,964,000
and had a liability ro repurchase these assets for $88,365,000.
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This repurchase obligation had an original one-year term that
expired in February 2003 and was extended three times to its
current maturity in March 2006. The liability balance bears
interest at specified rates over LIBOR based upon each asset
included in the obligation.

The first repurchase obligation with the second counterparty, a
securities dealer, was entered into on May 28, 2003 pursuant to
the terms of a master repurchase agreement that, as increased
in August 2003, allows us to incur $100.0 million of repur-
chase obligations to finance specific assets. At December 31,
2004, the master repurchase agreement has been utilized to
finance three loans. At December 31, 2004, we have sold
loans with a book and market value of $32,645,000 and have a
liability to repurchase these assets for $26,500,000 and can
borrow an addirional $98,000 without the need to pledge addi-
tional assets as collateral. At December 31, 2003, we sold loans
with a book and market value of $53,197,000 and had a liabil-
ity to repurchase these assets for $16,982,000. The master
repurchase agreement was extended during 2004 and now ter-
minates on June 1, 2006 and bears interest at specified rates
over LIBOR based upon each asset included in the obligation.

The second repurchase obligation with the second counter-
party, was entered into on August 17, 2004 pursuant to the
terms of a master repurchase agreement that allows us to incur
$50.0 million of repurchase obligations to finance specific
assets. At December 31, 2004, the master repurchase agree-
ment has been utilized to finance nine loans. At December 31,
2004, we have sold loans with a book and market value of
$32,215,000 and have a liability to repurchase these assets for
$20,424,000. The master repurchase agreement terminates on
September 1, 2007, and bears interest at specified rates over
LIBOR based upon each asser included in the obligation.

The repurchase obligations with the third counterparty, a
securities dealer, were entered into to finance three loans. At
December 31, 2004, we have sold loans with a book and mar-
ket value of $31,140,000 and have a liability to repurchase
these assets for $25,732,000. At December 31, 2003, we sold
a loan with a book and market value of $16,325,000 and had a
liability to repurchase this asset for $13,876,000. The repur-
chase agreements have current maturity dates ranging from
March 2005 to August 2005.

The average borrowing rate in effect for all the repurchase
obligations outstanding at December 31, 2004 was LIBOR plus
1.02% (3.32% at December 31, 2004). Assuming no addi-
tional utilization under the repurchase obligations and includ-
ing the amortization of fees paid and capitalized over the term
of the repurchase obligations, the all-in effective borrowing
cost was 3.41% at December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2003, we were obligated to two other counter-
parties under repurchase agreements in addition to those above.

The repurchase obligation with the first counterparty, a securities
dealer, arose in connection with the purchase of Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation Gold available-for-sale securities.
At December 31, 2003, we had sold such assets with a book
and marker value of $20,052,000 and had a liability to repur-
chase these assets for $19,461,000. This repurchase agreement
was repaid in full when the securities were sold during 2004.
The liability balance bore interest at LIBOR.

The repurchase obligations with the other counterparty, a
securities dealer, were entered into during the 2003 in connec-
tion with the purchase of a loan and CMBS securities. At
December 31, 2003, we sold a loan and CMBS with a book
and market value of $9,950,000 and had a liability to repur-
chase these assets for $8,210,000. The repurchase agreements
were matched to the term of the underlying loan and CMBS
and were repaid when the assets were repaid in 2004. The
repurchase agreements bore interest at specified rates over
LIBOR based upon each asset included in the obligation.

The average borrowing rate in effect for all the repurchase
obligations outstanding at December 31, 2003 was LIBOR plus
0.99% (2.15% at December 31, 2003). Assuming no addi-
tional utilization under the repurchase obligations and includ-
ing the amortization of fees paid and capitalized over the term
of the repurchase obligations, the all-in effective borrowing
cost was 2.65% at December 31, 2003.

Collateralized Debt Obligations

On July 20, 2004, we issued six tranches of investment grade
collateralized debt obligations, commonly known as CDOs, to
third party investors through our wholly-owned subsidiary
Capital Trust RE CDO 2004-1 Ltd., which we refer to as
CDO-1. In the transaction, CDO-1 issued secured investment
grade rated CDOs with a principal amount of $252,778,000,
and we purchased through a wholly-owned subsidiary the four
remaining tranches of unrated and below investment grade
rated CDOs and the equity interests issued by CDO-1. CDO-1
is a variable interest entity and our ownership of the unrated
and non-investment grade tranches results in us being the
primary beneficiary. As such, we consolidate the activity of
CDO-1 in our financial statements.

Proceeds from the sale of six investment grade tranches issued
by CDO-1 were used to purchase a $251.2 million portfolio of
B Notes and mezzanine loans from a third party which are held
as collateral in CDO-1. The $72.9 million remaining assets
pledged as collateral in CDO-1 were contributed from our
existing portfolioc of loans and CMBS. CDO-1 holds these
assets, along with cash, which totals $324,074,000 as collateral
for the CDQOs. The six investment grade tranches were issued
with floating rate coupons with a combined weighted average
rate of LIBOR + 0.62% (3.03% at December 31, 2004), have a
remaining expected average maturity of 4.5 years as of
December 31, 2004, are treated as a secured financing and are




non-recourse to us. We incurred $5,508,000 of issuance costs
which will be amortized on a level yield basis over the average
life of CDO-1 raising the all-in effective borrowing cost to
LIBOR plus 1.04%. CDO-1 was structured to match fund the
cash flows from a significant portion of our existing and newly
acquired B Notes, mezzanine loans and CMBS. '

12. Derivative Financial Instruments

We account for derivative financial instruments in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 requires an entity to
recognize all derivarives as either assets or liabilities in the con-
solidated balance sheets and to measure those instruments at fair
value. Additionally, the fair value adjustments will affect either
shareholders’ equity or net income depending on whether the
derivative instrument qualifies as a hedge for accounting pur-
poses and, if so, the nature of the hedging activity.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to the effect
of interest rate changes. We limit these risks by following
established risk management policies and procedures including
those for the use of derivatives. For interest rate exposures,
derivatives are used primarily to align rate movements
between interest rates associated with our loans and other
financial assets with interest rates on related debt financing,
and manage the cost of borrowing obligations.

We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
Further, we have a policy of only entering into contracts with
major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings and
other factors. When viewed in conjunction with the underly-
ing and offsetting exposure that the derivatives are designed to
hedge, we have not sustained a material loss from those inseru-
ments, nor do we anticipate any material adverse effect on our
net income or financial position in the future from the use
of derivatives.

To manage interest rate risk, we may employ options, forwards,
interest rate swaps, caps and floors or a combination thereof
depending on the underlying exposure. To reduce overall
interest cost, we use interest rate instruments, typically interest
rate swaps, to convert a portion of our variable rate debt to
fixed rate debt. Interest rate differentials that arise under these
swap contracts are recognized as interest expense over the life
of the contracts.

Financial reporting for hedges characterized as fair value hedges
and cash flow hedges are different. For those hedges character-
ized as a fair value hedge, the changes in fair value of the hedge
and the hedged item are reflected in earnings each quarter. In
the case of the fair value hedges, we are hedging the component
of interest rate risk that can be directly controlled by the hedg-

ing instrument, and it is this portion of the hedged assets that is
recognized in earnings. The non-hedged balance is classified as
an available-for-sale security consistent with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and is
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. For
those hedges characterized as cash flow hedges, the unrealized
gains/losses in the fair value of these hedges are reported on the
balance sheet with a corresponding adjustment to either accu-
mulated other comprehensive income or to earnings, depending
on the type of hedging relationship.

We undertook a fair value hedge to sustain the value of our
CMBS holdings. This fair value hedge, when viewed in con-
junction with the fair value of the securities, was intended to
sustain the value of those securities as interest rates rise and
fall. During the period from January 1, 2002 ro December 20,
2002, we tecognized a loss of $16,234,000 for the decrease in
the value of the swap which was substantially offset by a gain
of $15,924,000 for the change in the fair value of the securities
ateributed to the hedged risk resulting in a $310,000 charge to
unrealized loss on derivative securities on the consolidated
statement of operations. In conjunction with the sale of the
CMBS in 2002, in order to maintain the effectiveness of the
hedge, we reduced the maturity of the fair value hedge from
December 2014 to November 2009 and recognized a realized
gain for the payments received totaling $940,000. On
December 23, 2002, in order to eliminate accumulated earn-
ings and profits in anticipation of our election of REIT status
for tax purposes, the fair value hedge was settled resulting in a
realized loss of $23.6 million.

We utilize cash flow hedges in order to better control interest
costs on variable rate debt transactions. Interest rate swaps
that convert variable payments to fixed payments, interest rate
caps, floors, collars, and forwards are considered cash flow
hedges. During the period from january 1, 2002 to December
20, 2002, the fair value of the cash flow swaps decreased by
$3.3 million, which was deferred into other comprehensive
loss until the cash flow hedges were settied on December 23,
2002 and the settlement amount of $6.7 million was recorded
as a charge to earnings.

During the period from January 1, 2002 to December 20, 2002,
we recognized a loss of $62,000 for the change in time value
for qualifying interest rate hedges. The time value is a compo-
nent of fair value that must be recognized in earnings, and is
shown in the consolidated statement of operations as unreal-
ized loss on derivative securities. When the interest rate cap
was settled on December 23, 2002, we recognized a realized
loss of $51,000 on the consolidated statement of operations.

In 2002, we entered into two cash flow hedge contracts and in
2004, we entered into two new cash flow hedge contracts. The
following table summarizes the notional value and fair value of
our derivative financial instruments at December 31, 2004.
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Hedge Type Notional Value Interest Rate Maturity Fair Value
Swap Cash Flow Hedge $85,000,000 4.2425% 2015 $(37,000)
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 24,000,000 4.2325% 2015 4,000
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 19,437,000 3.9500% 2011 185,000
Swap Cash Flow Hedge 3,566,000 3.1175% 2007 42,000

On December 31, 2004, the derivative financial instruments
were reported at their fair value as interest rate hedge assets
and the increase in the fair value of the cash flow swaps from
$168,000 at December 31, 2003 to $194,000 at December 31,
2004 was deferred into other comprehensive income and will
be released to earnings over the remaining lives of the swaps.
The amount of the hedges’ ineffectiveness is immarerial and
reported as a component of interest expense.

QOver time, the unrealized gains and losses held in accumulated
other comprehensive income will be reclassified to earnings.
This reclassification is consistent with the timing of when the
hedged items are also recognized in earnings. Within the next
twelve months, we estimate that $1.5 million currently held in
accumulated other comprehensive income will be reclassified
to earnings, with regard to the cash flow hedges.

13. Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures

On July 28, 1998, we sold 8.25% step up convertible junior
subordinated debentures in the aggregate principal amount of
$154,650,000 to CT Convertible Trust 1, referred to as the
“Trust.” The Trust then privately placed and originally issued
150,000 8.25% step up convertible trust preferred securities
(liquidation amount $1,000 per security) with an aggregate
liquidation amount of $150 million to third parties. The con-
vertible trust preferred securities represented an undivided
beneficial interest in the assets of the Trust that consisted
solely of the step up convertible junior subordinated deben-
tures that were concurrently sold and originally issued to the
Trust. The common interest in the Trust was sold to us for
$4,650,000. The debentures and trust securities were subse-
quently modified and then redeemed and/or converted into
class A common stock as discussed below.

Payments of interest on the step up convertible junior subordi-
nated debentures were payable quarterly in arrears on each cal-
endar quarter-end and equal the amounts necessary for the
payment of distributions on the convertible trust preferred
securities. Distributions were payable only to the extent pay-
ments were made in respect to the convertible debentures.

We received $145,207,000 in net proceeds, after original issue
discount of 3% from the liquidation amount of the convertible
trust preferred securities and transaction expenses, pursuant to
the above transacrions, which were used to pay down our
credit facilities. The convertible trust preferred securities were
initially convertible into shares of class A common stock at an
initial rate of 853.47 shares of class A common stock per $1,000
principal amount of the convertible debentures held by the
Trust (which was equivalent to a conversion price of $35.10
per share of class A common stock).

On May 10, 2000, we modified the terms of the step up con-
vertible junior subordinated debentures canceling the original
underlying convertible debentures and new 8.25% step up
convertible junior subordinated debentures in the aggregate
principal amount of $92,524,000 and new 13% step up non-
convertible junior subordinated debentures in the aggregate
principal amount of $62,126,000 were issued to the Trust. In
connection with the modification, the then outstanding con-
vertible trust preferred securities were canceled and new vari-
able step up convertible trust preferred securities with an
aggregate liquidation amount of $150,000,000 were issued to
the holders of the canceled securities in exchange therefore.
The liquidation amount of the new convertible trust preferred
securities was divided into $89,742,000 of convertible amount
and $60,258,000 of non-convertible amount, the distribution,
redemption and, as applicable, conversion terms of which,
mirrored the interest, redemption and, as applicable, conver-
sion terms of the new convertible debentures and the new
non-convertible debentures, respectively, held by the Trust.

Payments of interest on the new step up convertible junior
subordinated debentures are payable quarterly in arrears on
each calendar quarter-end equaled the distributions made on
the new convertible trust preferred securities. Distributions on
the new convertible trust preferred securities were payable
only to the extent payments were made in respect to the new
debentures. The new step up convertible junior subordinated
debentures initially bore a blended coupon rate of 10.16% per
annum which rate was to vary as the-proportion of outstanding
convertible amount to the outstanding non-convertible
amount changes and step up in accordance with the coupon
rate step up terms applicable to-the convertible amount and
the non-convertible amount.

The convertible amount bore a coupon rate of 8.25% per
annum through March 31, 2002 and increased on April 1,
2002 to 10.00% per annum. The convertible amount was con-
vertible into shares of class A common stock, in increments of
$1,000 in liquidation amount, at a conversion price of $21.00
per share.

On Seprember 30, 2002, the non-convertible debentures were
redeemed in full, utilizing additional borrowings from the credit
facility and repurchase agreements, resulting in a corresponding
redemption in full of the related non-convertible amount of
convertible trust preferred securities. In connection with the
redemption transaction, we expensed the remaining unamor-
tized discount and fees on the redeemed non-convertible
amount resulting in $586,000 of additional expense for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Prior to redemption, the non-
convertible amount bore a coupon rate of 13.00% per annum.




On July 28, 2004, certain holders of the step up convertible
junior subordinated debentures outstanding converted
$44,871,000 of the debentures into 2,136,711 shares of class A
common stock and sold the shares in our public offering. On
September 29, 2004, following our issuance of a notice
of redemption to be effected on September 30, 2004,
$44,871,000 of the outstanding convertible debentures were
converted into 2,136,711 shares of our class A common stock
at a conversion price of approximately $21.00 per share. The
remaining $2,982,000 due on the convertible debentures was
repaid to the Trust and then the Trust redeemed the common
securities held by us.

For financial reporting purposes, in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” we are not treat-
ing the Trust as our subsidiary and, accordingly, the accounts
of the Trust are not included in our consolidated financial
statements. [ntercompany transactions between the Trust and
us have not been eliminated in our consolidated financial
statements.

14. Shareholders’ Equity
Authorized Capital

We have the authority to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of
stock, consisting of (i) 100,000,000 shares of class A common
stock and (ii) 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The board
of directors is generally authorized to issue additional shares of
authorized stock withourt shareholder approval.

Common Stock

Class A common stock are voting shares entitled to vote on all
matters presented to a vote of shareholders, except as provided
by law or subject to the voting rights of any outstanding pre-
ferred stock. Holders of record of shares of class A common
stock on the record date fixed by our board of directors are
entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the
board of directors subject to the rights of the holders of any
outstanding preferred stock.

Preferred Stock
We have 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized and

have not issued any shares of preferred stock since we repur-
chased alf of the previously issued and ocutstanding preferred
stock in 2001.

Common and Preferred Stock Transactions

In March 2000, we commenced an open market stock repur-
chase program under which we were initially authorized to pur-
chase, from time to time, up to 666,667 shares of class A

common stock. Since that time the authorization has been
increased by the board of directors to purchase up to 2,366,923
shares of class A common stock. As of December 31, 2004, we
had purchased and retired, pursuant to the program, 1,700,584
shares of class A common stock at an average price of $13.13
per share (including commissions). We did not repurchase any
of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2004.

We have no further obligations to issue additional warrants to
affiliates of Citigroup Alternative Investments at December
31, 2004. The value of the warrants at the issuance dates,
$4,636,000, was capitalized and is being amortized over the
anticipated lives of the fund business venture with affiliates of
Citigroup Alternative lnvestments. On January 31, 2003, we
purchased all of the outstanding warrants to purchase
2,842,822 shares of class A common stock for $2,132,000.

On June 18, 2003, we issued 1,075,000 shares of class A com-
mon stock in a private placement to thirty-two separate
investors. We received net proceeds of $17.1 million after pay-
ment of offering expenses and fees.

On May 11, 2004, we closed on the initial tranche of a direct
public offering to designated controlled affiliates of W. R.
Berkley Corporation, which we refer to as Berkley. We issued
1,310,000 shares of our class A common stock and stock put-
chase warrants to purchase 365,000 shares of our class A com-
mon stock for a roral purchase price of $30.7 millien. On June
21, 2004, we closed on the second tranche of the direct public
offering and issued an additional 325,000 shares of our class A
common stock for a toral purchase price of $7.6 million. The
warrants, which were set to expire on December 31, 2004,
were exercised on September 13, 2004 to purchase 365,000
shares of our class A common stock for a total purchase price
of $8.5 million. Pursuant to a director designation right
granted to Berkley in the transaction, we appointed Joshua A.
Polan to our board of directors.

On July 28, 2004, we closed on a public offering of our class A
common stock pursuant to which we sold 1,888,289 shares and
certain selling shareholders sold 2,136,711 shares obtained
upon the concurrent conversion of $44,871,000 of our out-
standing convertible junior subordinated debentures. All
4,025,000 shares were sold to the public at a price of $23.75
per share. After payment of underwriting discounts and com-
missions and expenses, we received net proceeds from the
offering of $41.6 million.

On September 29, 2004, following our issuance of a notice
of redemption to be effected on September 30, 2004,
$44,871,000 of the convertible junior subordinated debentures
outstanding were converted into 2,136,711 shares of our class
A common stock at a conversion price of approximately
$21.00 per share.
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Earnings per Share

The following tables set forth the calculation of Basic and
Diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002:
Year Ended December 31, 2004

Per Share

Net Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS:
Net earnings allocable
to common stock
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Options outstanding for the
purchase of common stock: —
Convertible trust preferred
securities exchangeable
for shares of common stock — —

Diluted EPS:
Net earnings per share of
common stock and

$21,976,000 10,141,380 $2.17

135,506

$21,976,000 10,276,886 $2.14

assumed conversions

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Per Share

Net Income Shares Amount

Basic EPS:
Net earnings allocable
 commion stock
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Oprions outstanding for the
purchase of common stock —
Convertible trust preferred
securities exchangeable for
shares of common stock

Diluted EPS:
Net earnings per share of
common stock and
assumed conversions

$ 13,525,000 5,946,718 $ 227

67.581

9,452,000 4,273,422

S $22977,000 10,287,721 $2.23

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Per Share

Ner Loss Shares  Amount

Basic EPS:
Net loss allocable
to common stock
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Options outstanding for the
purchase of common stack — —
Convertible trust preferred
securities exchangeable for
shares of common stock — —

Diluted EPS:
Net loss per share of
common stock and
assumed conversions

$ (9,738,000) 6,008,731 $(1.62)

$ (9,738,000) 6,008,731 $(1.62)

15. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 copsisted of (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Salaries and benefits $ 9,713  $ 8306 $9276
Professional services 2,233 2,127 1,806
Other 3,283 2,887 2,914
Total $15,229  $13,320 $13,996

16. Income Taxes

We made an election to be taxed as a REIT under Section
856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
commencing with the tax year ending December 31, 2003. As
a REIT, we generally are not subject to federal income tax. To
maintain qualification as a REIT, we must distribute at least
90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders and meet
certain other requirements. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in
any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax
on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. We may also
be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income
and property. Under certain circumstances, federal income and
excise taxes may be due on our undistributed taxable income.
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we were in compliance with
all REIT requirements.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded
$451,000 of income tax benefit resulting from book losses gen-
erated by our taxable REIT subsidiaries. We believe that our
taxable REIT subsidiaries will generate book earnings in 2005
in excess of the losses recognized in 2004, and that any poten-
tial taxable losses in 2005 would be recoverable from taxes paid
in 2003 and 2004, requiring us to recognize the tax benefit.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded
$646,000 of income tax expense for income that was attributa-
ble to taxable REIT subsidiaries. Our effective tax rate for the
vear ended December 31, 2003 attributable to our taxable
REIT subsidiaries was 107.9%. The difference between the
U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% and the effective tax rate
was primarily state and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit,
and compensation in excess of deductible limits.

We have federal net operating loss carryforwards as of
December 31, 2004 of approximately $3.6 million. Such net
operating loss carryforwards expire through 2021. Due 1o an
ownership change in January 1997 and another prior owner-
ship change, a substantial portion of the net operating loss
carryforwards are limited for federal income tax purposes to




approximately $1.4 million annually. Any unused portion of
such annual limitation can be carried forward to future peri-
ods. We also have federal capital loss carryforwards as of
December 31, 2004 of approximately $9.0 million that expire
through 2008. The utilization of these carryforwards would not
reduce federal income taxes but would reduce required distri-
butions to maintain REIT status.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabili-
ties for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
tax reporting purposes.

As we are operating in a manner to meet the qualifications to
be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes during the
2004 tax year, we do not expect we will be liable for income
taxes or taxes on “built-in gain” on our assets at the federal
level or in most states in future years, other than on our tax-
able REIT subsidiary. Accordingly, we eliminated substantially
all of our deferred tax liabilities other than that related to our
taxable REIT subsidiary at December 31, 2002. The amounts
for 2004 and 2003 relate only to differences related to taxable
earnings of our taxable REIT subsidiaries. All dividends
declared in 2003 and 2004 are ordinary income.

The components of the net deferred tax assets are as follows
(in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003
Fund Il incentive management fees
recognized for tax purposes not
recorded for book $4,867 $3,230
Other 756 279
Deferred tax assets 5,623 3,509
Valuation allowance — (140)
$5,623 $3,369

We recorded a valuation allowance to reserve a portion of our
net deferred assets in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109. Under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, this valuation allowance will
be adjusted in future years, as appropriate. In 2004, the valua-
tion allowance was eliminated when the item which generated
it was eliminated.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, we filed a consolidated
federal income tax return as a C-corporation. The provision
for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2002 is
comprised as follows (in thousands):

2002

Current
Federal $ 8,752
State 2,654
Local 2,802

Deferred
Federal 5,152
State 1,483
Local 1,595
Provision for income taxes $22,438

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal
statutory tax rate (35%) to the effective income tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2002 is as follows (in thousands):

2002
$ %
Federal income tax at statutory rate $ 7,404 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal rax benefit 5,547 26.2%
Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards (490) (2.3)%
Capital loss carryforwards not recognized due
to uncertainty of utilization 10,304 48.7%
Compensation in excess of deductible limits 502 2.4%
Reduction of net deferred tax liabilities (2,783)  (13.1)%
Other 1,954 9.2%
$22,438  106.1%

17. Employee Benefit Plans
Employee 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) and profit sharing plan that allows eligible
employees to contribute up to 15% of their salary into the plan
on a pre-tax basis, subject to annual limits. We have committed
to make contributions to the plan equal to 3% of all eligible
employees’ compensation subject to annual limits and may
make additional contributions based upon eamings. Our con-
tribution expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, was $99,000, $103,000 and $110,000, respectively.
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1997 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan

Our 1997 second amended and restated long-term incentive
stock plan permits the grant of nonqualified stock option,
incentive stock option, restricted stock, stock appreciation
right, performance unit, performance stock and stock unit
awards. A maximum of 527,420 shares of class A common
stock may be issued during the fiscal year 2005 pursuant to
awards under the incentive stock plan and the director stock
plan (as discussed below) in addition to the shares subjecr to
awards outstanding under the two plans at December 31, 2004.
The maximum number of shares that may be subject to awards
to any employee during the term of the plan may not exceed
333,334 shares and the maximum amount payable in cash to
any employee with respect to any performance period pursuant
to any performance unit or performance stock award is

$1.0 million.

Incentive stock options shall be exercisable no more than ten
years after their date of grant and five years after the grant in
the case of a 10% shareholder and vest over a period of three
years with one-third vesting at each anniversary date. Payment
of an option may be made with cash, with previously owned
class A common stock, by foregoing compensation in accord-
ance with performance compensation committee or compen-
sation committee rules or by a combination of these.

Restricted stock may be granted under the long-term incentive
stock plan with performance goals and periods of restriction as

the board of directors may designate. The performance goals
may be based on the attainment of certain objective andfor
subjective measures. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we issued 52,515
shares, 17,500 shares and 25,157 shares, respectively, of
restricted stock at a weighted average price of $22.85, $20.35
and $15.90 per share, respectively. In 2003, 12,707 shares were
canceled upon the resignation of employees prior to vesting.
The shares of restricted stock issued in 2004 were split with
one-half subject to performance and time vesting and one-half
subject only to time vesting. The performance and rime based
grants vest on January 26, 2008 if certain performance measures
are met and the grantee is employed on that date. The time
vest only grants vest one-third on each of the following dates:
January 26, 2005, January 26, 2006 and January 26, 2007. The
shares of restricted stock issued in 2003 vest one-third on each
of the following dates: February 1, 2004, February 1, 2005 and
February 1, 2006. The shares of restricted stock issued in 2002
vest one-third on each of the following dates: February 1, 2003,
February 1, 2004 and February 1, 2005.

The long-term incentive stock plan also authorizes the grant
of stack units at any time and from time to time on such terms
as shall be determined by the board of directors or administer-
ing compensation committee. Stock units shall be payable in
class A common stock upon the occurrence of certain trigger
events. The terms and conditions of the trigger events may
vary by stock unit award, by the participant, or both.

The following table summarizes the activity under the long-term incentive stock plan for the years ended December 31, 2004,

2003 and 2002:

Weighted

Options Exercise Price Average Exercise

Qutsranding pet Share Price per Share

Qutustanding at January 1, 2002 577,082 $12.375-$30.00 $19.26
Granted in 2002 97,340 $15.90 15.90
Canceled in 2002 (17,172) $12.375-818.00 13.79
Qutstanding at December 31, 2002 657,250 $12.375-$30.00 $18.51
Granred in 2003 (18,445) $12.375-$18.00 15.20
Canceled in 2003 (121,337) $12.375-$30.00 18.51
Qutstanding at December 31, 2003 517,468 $12.375-$30.00 $19.09
Exercised in 2004 (56,079) $12.375-$18.00 14.52
Canceled in 2004 (2,391) $15.000-$15.90 15.48
Qutstanding at December 31, 2004 458,998 $12.375-3$30.00 $19.67




At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, options to purchase
428,995, 417,730 and 435,669 shares, respectively, were exer-
cisable. At December 31, 2004, the outstanding options have
various remaining contractual lives ranging from 1.00 to 7.09
years with a weighted average life of 4.47 years. The following
table presents the options outstanding and exercisable at
December 31, 2004 within price ranges:

Range for Total Total
Exercise Prices Options Options
per Share Outstanding Exercisable
$12.375-$15.00 101,433 101,433
$15.01 -$18.00 232,007 202,004
$18.01 -$21.00 — —
$21.01 -$24.00 — —
$24.01 -$27.00 33,334 33,334
$27.01 ~$30.00 92,224 92,224
Total 458,998 428,995

1997 Non-Employee Director Stack Plan

Our 1997 amended and restated non-employee director stock
plan permits the grant of nonqualified stock option, restricted
stock, stock appreciation right, performance unit, performance
stock and stock unit awards. A maximum of 527,420 shares of
class A common stock may be issued during the fiscal year 2005
pursuant to awards under the director stock plan and the long-
term incentive stock plan, in addition to the shares subject to
awards outstanding under the two plans at December 31, 2004.

The board of directors shall determine the purchase price per
share of class A common stock covered by nonqualified stock
options granted under the director stock plan. Payment of non-
qualified stock options may be made with cash, with previously
owned shares of class A common stock, by foregoing compensa-
tion in accordance with board rules or by a combination of
these payment methods. Stock appreciation rights may be
granted under the plan in lieu of nonqualified stock options, in
addition to nonqualified stock options, independent of non-
qualified stock options or as a combination of the foregoing. A
holder of stock appreciation rights is entitled upon exercise to
recetve shares of class A common stock, or cash or a combina-
tion of both, as the board of directors may determine, equal in
value on the date of exercise to the amount by which the fair
market value of one share of class A common stock on the date
of exercise exceeds the exercise price fixed by the board on the
date of grant (which price shall not be less than 100% of the
market price of a share of class A common stock on the date of
grant) multiplied by the number of shares in respect to which
the stock appreciation rights are exercised.

Restricted stock may be granted under the director stock plan
with performance goals and periods of restriction as the board
of directors may designate. The performance goals may be
based on the attainment of certain objective and/or subjective
measures. The director stock plan also authorizes the grant of
stock units at any time and from time to time on such terms as
shall be determined by the board of directors. Stock units shall
be payable in shares of class A common stock upon the occur-
rence of certain trigger events. The terms and conditions of
the trigger events may vary by stack unit award, by the partic-
ipant, or both.

The following table summarizes the activity under the director stock plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Weighted

Options Exercise Price Average Exercise

Outstanding per Share Price per Share

Qutstanding ar January 1, 2002 85,002 $18.00-330.00 $27.65
Granted in 2002 — §— —
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 85,002 $18.00-$30.00 27.65
Granted in 2003 — $— —
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 85,002 $18.00-$30.00 27.65
Granted in 2004 — $— —
Qurstanding at December 31, 2004 85,002 $18.00-$30.00 $27.65
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At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, all of the options out-
standing were exercisable. At December 31, 2004, the out-
standing options have a remaining contractual life of 2.54
years to 3.08 years with a weighted average life of 2.98 years.
16,668 of the options are priced at $18.00 and the remaining
68,334 are priced at $30.00.

2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Our 2004 amended and restated long-term incentive plan, or
the 2004 Plan, permits the grant of nonqualified stock option,
incentive stock opticn, share appreciation right, restricted
share, unrestricted share, performance unit, performance share
and deferred share unit awards. A maximum of 1,000,000
shares of class A common stock may be issued under the 2004
Plan. No participant may receive options or share appreciation

rights that relate ro more than 500,000 shares per calendar year.

Incentive stock options shall be exercisable no more than ten
years after their date of grant and five years after the grant in
the case of a 10% shareholder. Payment of an option exercise
price may be made with cash, with previously owned class A
common stock, through a cashless exercise program, surrender
of restricted shares, restricted share units, share appreciation
rights or deferred share units or by a combination of these
methods of payment.

Restricted stock may be granted under the 2004 Plan with per-
formance goals and periods of restriction as the board of direc-
tors may designate. The performance goals may be based on the
attainment of certain objective and/or subjective measures.

The 2004 Plan also authorizes the grant of share units at any
time and from time to time on such terms as shall be deter-
mined by the board of directors or administering compensation
committee. Share units shall be payable in shares of class A
common stock upon the occurrence of certain trigger events.
The terms and conditions of the trigger events may vary by
share unit award, by the participant, or both.

On July 15, 2004, pursuant to the 2004 Plan, we issued
218,818 restricted shares in accordance with Mr. Klopp's new
employment agreement at a price of $26.47 per share, 50% of
which will be subject to rime vesting in eight equal quarterly
increments commencing on March 31, 2007 and 50% of
which will be issued as a performance compensation award and
will vest on December 31, 2008 if the total shareholder return,
measured from January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2008, is
at least 13% per annum. As of December 31, 2004, no other
share based awards have been issued pursuant to the 2004
Plan. A maximum of 781,182 shares of class A common stock
may be issued during the fiscal year 2005 pursuant to awards
under the 2004 Plan in addition to the shares subject to awards
outstanding at December 31, 2004.

18. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures about
Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires disclosure of fair
value information about financial instruments, whether or not
recognized in the statement of financial condition, for which it
is practicable to estimate that value. In cases where quoted
market prices are not available, fair values are based upon esti-
mates using present value or other valuation techniques.
Those rechniques are significantly affected by the assumptions
used, including the discount rate and the estimated future cash
flows. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be
substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in
many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of
the instrument. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 107 excludes certain financial instrumenes and all non-
financial instruments from our disclosure requirements.
Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts do not represent
the underlying value of Capital Trust.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it
is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount of cash on
hand and money market funds is considered to be a reasonable
estimate of fair value.

Awailable-for-sale securities: The fair value was determined
based upon the market value of the securities.

Commercial mortgage-backed securities: The fair value was obtained
by obtaining quotes from a market maker in the security.

Loans receivable, net: The fair values were estimated by using
current institutional purchaser yield requirements for loans
with similar credit characteristics.

Interest rate cap agreement: The fair value was estimated based
upon the amount at which similar financial instruments would
be valued.

Credit facility: The credit facility is at floating rates of interest
for which the spread over LIBOR is at rates that are similar to
those in the market currently. Therefore, the carrying value is
a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Repurchase obligations: The repurchase obligations, which are
generally short-term in nature, bear interest at a floating rate
and the book value is a reasonable estimare of fair value.

Term redeemable securities contract: The fair value was estimated
based upon the amount at which similar privately placed
financial instruments would be valued. :




Convertible trust preferred securities: The fair value was esti-
mated based upon the amount at which similar privately
placed financial instruments would be valued.

Collateralized debt obligations: The fair value was estimated
based upon the amount at which similar placed financial
instruments would be valued.

Interest rate swap agreements: The fair values were estimated
based upon the amount at which similar financial instruments
would be valued.

The carrying amounts of all assets and liabilities approximate
the fair value except as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2004  December 31, 2003

Carrying Fair
Amount Value

Carrying Fair

Value

Amount

Financial Assets:

Loans receivable $556,164 $566,919 $183,721 $191,395

19. Supplemental Schedule of
Non-Cash and Financing Activities

Interest paid on our outstanding debt for 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $19,031,000, $18,980,000 and $32,293,000, respectively.
Income taxes paid by us in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
$2,443,000, $2,454,000 and $8,275,000, respectively.

20. Transactions with Related Parties

We entered into a consulting agreement, dated as of January 1,
1998, with one of our directors. The consulting agreement had
an initial term of one year, which was subsequently extended
to December 31, 2002 and then allowed to expire. Pursuant to
the agreement, the director provided consulting services for us
including new business identification, strategic planning and
identifying and negotiating mergers, acquisitions, joint ven-
tures and straregic alliances. During the year ended December
31, 2002, we incurred expenses of $96,000 in connection with
this agreement.

Effective January 1, 2001, we entered into a consulting agree-
ment with another director. The consulting agreement had an
initial term of two years that expired on December 31, 2002.
Under this agreement, the consultant was paid $15,000 per
month for which the consultant provided services to us includ-
ing serving on the management committees for Fund I and
Fund 11 and any other tasks and assignments requested by the
chief executive officer. Effective January 1, 2003, we entered
into a new consulting agreement with the director with a term
of two years and five months that expires on May 31, 2005.
Under the new agreement, the consultant is paid $10,000 per
month for which the consultant provides services to us includ-
ing serving on the management committees for Fund 1 and

Fund II, serving on the board of directors of Fund 11, and any
other tasks and assignments requested by the chief executive
officer. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, we incurred expenses of $120,000, $120,000 and
$180,000, respectively in connection with these agreements.

We pay Equity Group Investments, L.L.C. and Equity Risk
Services, Inc., affiliates under common control of the chair-
man of the board of directors, for certain corporate services
provided to us. These services include consulting on insurance
matters, risk management, and investor relations. During the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we incurred
$49,000, $48,000 and $57,000, respectively, of expenses in
connection with these services.

We pay Global Realty Outsourcing, Inc., a company in which
we have an equity investment and on whose board of directors
our president and chief executive officer serves, for consulting
services relating to monitoring assets and evaluating potential
investments. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, we incurred $568,000, $147,000 and $13,000,
respectively, of expenses in connection with these services. At
December 31, 2004, we are indebted to Global Realty
Outsourcing, Inc. for $93,000 which is included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses.

We believe that the terms of the foregoing transactions are no
less favorable than could be obrained by us from unrelated par-
ties on an arm’s-length basis.

21. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We lease premises and equipment under operating leases with
various expiration dates. Minimum annual rental payments at
December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:

2005 $ 975
2006 975
2007 975
2008 488
2009 —

$3,413

Rent expense for office space and equipment amounted to
$903,000, $902,000 and $899,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Litigation
In the normal course of business, we are subject to various
legal proceedings and claims, the resolution of which, in man-

agement's opinion, will not have a material adverse effect on
our consolidared financial position or our results of operations.
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Employment Agreements

John R. Klopp serves as our chief executive officer and presi-
dent pursuant to an employment agreement entered into on
July 15, 1997, which terminated effective July 15, 2004, the
effective date of his new employment agreement thar was
entered into as of February 24, 2004. The new employment
agreement provides for Mr. Klopp's employment as chief exec-
utive officer and president through December 31, 2008 (sub-
ject to earlier termination under certain circumstances).

Under the new employment agreement, Mr. Klopp receives a
base salary and is eligible to receive annual performance com-
pensation awards of cash and restricted shares of common
stack. As of the effective date of the new agreement, July 15,
2004, Mr. Klopp was granted an initial award of 218,818
restricted shares, 50% of which will be subject to time vesting in
eight equal quarterly increments commencing on March 31, 2007
and 50% of which will be issued as a performance compensation
award and will vest on December 31, 2008 if the total
shareholder return, measured from January 1, 2004 rhrough
December 31, 2008, is at least 13% per annum. As of the
effective date, Mr. Klopp was also awarded performance compen-
sation awards tied to the amount of cash we receive, if any, as

incentive management fees from CT Mezzanine Partners 11,
Inc. The agreement provides for severance payments under
certain circumstances and contains provisions relating to non-
competition during the term of employment, protection of our
confidential informartion and intellectual property, and non-
solicitation of our employees, which provisions extend for 24
months following termination in certain circumstances.

22. Segment Reporting

We have established two reportable segments beginning
January 1, 2003. We have an internal informarion system that
produces performance and asset data for our two segments
along service lines.

The Balance Sheet Investment segment includes all of our activ-
ities related to direct loan and investment activities (including
direct investments in Funds) and the financing thereof.

The Investment Management segment includes all of our
activities related to investment management services provided
to us and third-party funds under management and includes
our taxable REIT subsidiary, CT Investment Management Co.,
LLC and its subsidiaries.

The following table details each segment’s contribution to our overall profitability and the identified assets attributable to each
such segment for the year ended and as of December 31, 2004, respectively (in thousands):

Balance Sheet [nvestment Inter-Segment
Investment Management Activities Tortal
Income from loans and other investrments:
Interest and related income $ 46,561 $  — $ — $ 46,561
Less: Interest and related expenses on credit facility, term
redeemable securities contract and repurchase obligations (13,724) — — (13,724)
Less: Interest and related expenses on convertible junior
subordinated debentures (6,417) —_ — (6,417)
Income from loans and other investments, net 26,420 — — 26,420
Other revenues:
Management and advisory fees — 11,477 (3,624) 7,853
Income/(loss) from equity investments in Funds 2,746 (339) — 2,407
Gain on sale of investments 300 — — 300
Special servicing fees - 10 —_ 10
Other interest income 62 287 (271) 78
Total other revenues 3,108 11,435 (3,895) 10,648
Other expenses:
General and administrative 6,581 12,272 (3,624) 15,229
Other interest expense 271 — (271) —
Depreciation and amortizarion 845 255 — 1,100
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities for other-
than-temporary impairment 5,886 — — 5,886
Recapture of allowance for possible credit losses (6,672) —_ — (6,672)
Total other expenses 6,911 12,527 (3,893) 15,543
{
Income before income taxes 22,617 (1,092) — 21,525
Provision for income taxes — (451) — (451)
Net income $ 22,617 $ (641) $ — $ 21976
Total Assets $876,032 $13,402 $(11,668) $877,766




All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment earned fees of
$3,624,000 for management of the Lending and Investment segment and $271,000 for inter-segment interest for the year ended
December 31, 2004, respectively, which is reflected as offsetting adjustments to other revenues and other expenses in the Inter-
Segment Activities column in the tables above.

The following table details each segment’s contribution to our overall profitability and the identified assets attributable to each
such segment for the year ended and as of December 31, 2003, respectively (in thousands):

Balance Sheet Investment Inter-Segment
Investment Management Activities Total
Income from loans and other investments:
Interest and related income $ 38,524 $  — $ — $ 38,524
Less: Interest and related expenses on credit facility, term
redeemable securities contract and repurchase obligations (9,845) — — (9,845)
Less: Interest and related expenses on convertible junior
subordinated debentures (9,730) — — (9,730)
Income from loans and other investments, net 18,949 — — 18,949
Orher revenues:
Management and advisory fees — 11,259 (3,239) 8,020
Income/(loss) from equity investments in Funds 2,312 (786) —_ 1,526
Other interest income 29 185 (161) 33
Total other revenues 2,341 10,658 (3,400) 9,599
Other expenses:
General and administrative 6,453 10,106 (3,239) 13,320
Other interest expense 161 — (161) —
Depreciation and amortization ) 845 212 — 1,057
Total other expenses 7,459 10,318 (3,400) 14,377
Income before income taxes 13,831 340 — 14,171
Provision for income taxes — 646 — 646
Net income $ 13,831 $ (306) $ — $ 13,525
Total Assers $390,509 $24,151 $(14,734) $399,926

All revenues were generated from external sources within the United States. The Investment Management segment earned fees of
$3,239,000 for management of the Lending and Investment segment and $161,000 for inter-segment interest for the year ended
December 31, 2003, respectively, which is reflected as offsetting adjustments to other revenues and other expenses in the Inter-
Segment Activities column in the tables above.
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.23. Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands except per share data):

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2004
Revenues $11,504 $11,942 $15,200 $18,554
Net income as originally reported in 10Q $ 3,082 $ 3,540 $ 5,864
Effects of adoption of FAS #123 (30) (9) (6)
Net income(!) $ 3,052 $ 3,531 $ 5,858 $ 9,535
Net income per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.46 $ 0.48 $ 0.51 $ 0.63
Diluted ‘ $ 0.46 $ 047 $ 0.50 $ 0.63.
2003 i .
Revenues $11,139 $ 10,652 $ 14,517 $ 11,537
Net income $ 2,545 $ 2,586 $ 4,786 $ 3,608
Net income per share of common stock: .
Basic $ 046 S 046 $ .74 $ 055
Diluted $ 046 $ 046 $ 066 $ 0.54
2002
Revenues $ 13,886 $ 16,579 $ 16,843 $ 9,695
Nert income $ 1,573 $ 1,117 $ 1,553 $(13,981)
Net income per share of common stock:
Basic $ 025 $ 018 $ 026 $ (2.53)
Dituted $ 024 $ 018 $ 025 $ (2.53)

(1) Quarterly amounts have been restated for adoption of FAS #123.

24. Subsequent Event

On March 4, 2005 we entered into repurchase agreements with a new counterparty, a commercial bank, in connection with the
purchase of nine new loans. On that day, we purchased loans totaling $164.6 million and sold them pursuant to a master repur-
chase agreement and have a liability to repurchase the loans for $139.9 million. The master repurchase agreement terminates on
March 4, 2010 and bears interest at specified rates over LIBOR based upon each included asset in the obligation.
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Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

OQur class A Common Stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange

(NYSE), ticker symbol CT.

The high and low sale prices and dividends declared for 2004 and 2003 on the NYSE

were as follows:

2004

1st QTR
2nd QTR
3rd QTR
4th QTR

2003

Ist QTR

2nd QTR
3rd QTR
4th QTR

High Low Close Dividends

$26.15  $22.50 $26.10 $0.45
$27.25 $22.40 $26.72 $0.45
$29.10 $23.25 $29.10 $0.45
$34.56  $27.32  $30.71 $0.50

$18.75  $13.35  $17.25 $0.45
$19.62  $14.49  $18.55 $0.45
$20.99  $18.60  $19.81 $0.45
$23.40  $19.71  $22.70 $0.45
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